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Dear Shareholders 
 
I present your Company’s 2010 Annual Report and Financial Statements. 
 
I am pleased to report that 2010 has delivered some important milestones for Lonrho, including the 
successful divestment of our South African subsidiary companies and the end of our involvement in South 
Africa – a welcome development that will enable the Company to focus our full attention on our primary 
asset, the 3,000km² Lulo Diamond Concession, located in the Lunda Norte Province of the diamond-rich 
country of Angola.   
 
Lonrho holds a highly prospective ground package at Lulo, where we have previously identified 217 
magnetic anomalies, of which an estimated 160 are believed likely to be kimberlite pipes and dykes - none 
of which have been systematically explored or tested. Lonrho is planning an exploration program to 
examine and sample 40 of the larger magnetic targets within the concession in the 2010/11 financial year, 
including surface mapping, costeaning and drilling.  
 
Key equipment required for this exploration effort has been delivered to site, and we look forward to 
delivering a steady stream of exploration results over the coming months. 
 
I would like to take this opportunity to welcome the Company’s recently appointed Exploration Director, 
David Jones who has responsibility for directing the exploration program. As one of Australia’s most 
experienced and successful diamond exploration geologists, David will oversee the commencement of our 
exploration activities. His experience in the exploration and development of diamond mines will be 
invaluable for Lonrho as we ramp up our exploration efforts at Lulo. 
 
I refer you to the Company’s website, www.lonrhomining.com to view the presentation on the potential of 
Lulo. 
 
With the foundations of the 2010/11 exploration program in place, we look forward to a busy year ahead at 
Lulo.  The Company remains committed to its core business of creating shareholder wealth and the 
development of the Lulo Diamond Concession. 
 
Finally, on behalf of the Board I would like to thank you, our shareholders, for your support of the Company 
and I look forward to a bright and prosperous 2010/11. 
 
 
DAVID LENIGAS 
NON-EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN 
 
29 June 2010 
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ANGOLA 
 
Lulo Diamond Concession 
 
Introduction 
 
The Lulo Diamond Concession covers a total area of approximately 3,000km2 and is located in the Cuango 
River Basin within the Lunda Norte Province of north-eastern Angola in southern Africa. The project area is 
situated approximately 720km by sealed road from the capital city of Luanda. 
 

 
 
   
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 Figure 1 
 
The project has significant diamond exploration potential, with some 29 kimberlites reported from the 
Concession area and extensive diamond-bearing alluvials (as indicated by garimpeiro activity) occurring 
along the Cacuilo and Lulo Rivers. 
 
A number of experts believe that the Cuango River Basin will become a prolific region for the production of 
diamonds. The Catoca mine, the world’s fourth largest kimberlite diamond mine, accounts for 60 percent of 
Angola’s diamond production and is located 130km east of the Lulo Diamond Concession (Figure 1). The 
Catoca mine produced approximately 7 million carats in 2007. 
 
In accordance with normal practice in Angola, the Lulo Diamond Concession is operated as a Joint Venture 
with the Government-owned diamond company, Endiama, which is the exclusive concessionary for Angolan 
diamond mining rights. Under the joint venture arrangement, Lonrho holds a 39 percent interest in the 
Concession, with Endiama holding a 51 percent interest and the remaining 10 percent owned by a private 
Angolan interest. 
 
Lonrho is the operator of the Concession and funds and executes all exploration activities within the 
Concession area. In the event that a mining operation is commenced within the Concession, Lonrho is 
entitled to first recover all of its exploration and development costs, after which the proceeds will be shared 
proportionally between the stakeholders. 

LULO

ZAMBIA
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Previous Exploration 
 
As reported in its 2009 Annual Report, Lonrho completed a low-level aeromagnetic survey over 1,000km² of 
the upper Cacuilo and Lulo Rivers in February 2008. The aim of this survey was to assist in the location of 
kimberlite intrusives within the Concession. This survey appears to have been particularly successful. An 
image of the aeromagnetic data is shown as Figure 2. Interpretation of the aeromagnetic data by 
independent Consulting Geophysicist E.O. Kostlin resulted in the identification of 217 magnetic anomalies. 
Based on the experience in adjoining tenements it is anticipated that at least 80 percent of the anomalies 
will be kimberlites. 
 

 
 

Figure 2 - Aeromagnetic Survey 
The survey identified over 200 magnetic anomalies within the southern part of the concession. 

 
 
In December 2008, six aeromagnetic and/or satellite image targets were visited.  A 20-40kg soil sample was 
collected from the centre point of each anomaly with the heavy mineral fraction of the samples examined 
to recover kimberlitic indicator minerals. Kimberlitic pyrope garnets and/or picroilmenites were recovered 
from all of the samples. In addition, outcropping kimberlite was identified at the K72 site. 
 
The reconnaissance exploration program demonstrated that: 
• a high proportion of the magnetic anomalies in the area were likely to be kimberlites; 
• many of the kimberlites are only shallowly buried and some will outcrop; and 
• some initial evaluation and sampling of the anomalies could be undertaken using surface 

excavation techniques. 
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The geophysical data (both aeromagnetics and radiometrics) were recently reinterpreted resulting in the 
identification of 40 priority targets. These targets have a wide geographic spread and their selection was 
strongly influenced by the aerial extent of the aeromagnetic anomaly, with larger anomalies generally 
considered higher priority. Fourteen of the targets selected also have coincident radiometric anomalies 
(uranium and/or thorium). As radiometric anomalies can be masked by less than a metre of overburden, it 
is possible that these targets may outcrop. 
 
2010 Work Program 
 
Capital Purchases  
 
Operations in Angola require the Company to have its own earthmoving and mineral processing facilities. 
During the 2009/10 financial year, Lonrho purchased a Cat322 excavator, a Cat928 front-end loader and a 
Cat D6 bulldozer in South Africa. The Company has also purchased second-hand a 15 tonne per hour Dense 
Media Separation (DMS) plant to process kimberlitic and alluvial samples. 
 
The earth-moving machinery was trucked from South Africa and arrived on site early in May. A late end to 
the Angolan wet season delayed the commencement of field operations. Although the rains have now 
ceased, boggy ground conditions have made movement of machinery extremely difficult. At this time, 
Lonrho’s earthmoving fleet are engaged in preparing access to alluvial and kimberlite sites and establishing 
a site for the Company’s DMS plant. 
 
Because of the late end to the wet season it was decided to pre-commission the DMS plant in South Africa. 
The pre-commissioning phase has now been completed and the plant is currently being packed prior to 
shipment to Lulo. Field-commissioning of the DMS will commence in June and should be completed during 
July.  
 
When the DMS plant arrives on site it will be established on a plateau immediately to the south of Lonrho’s 
existing field camp. This site takes advantage of infrastructure associated with the camp and a readily 
accessible water supply. 
 
When the DMS is field-commissioned and operational, the Company is due to be refunded US$1.4 million 
that was lodged with Endiama as a cash bond at the time the initial Joint Venture agreement was signed.  
 
Alluvial Sampling 
 
Lonrho's field camp is situated near the centre of a 10 kilometre long belt of intensive, shallow alluvial 
diamond mining (Figure 3, 4 and 5). During 2010, Lonrho commenced a review of the alluvial potential of 
the Cacuilo River terraces and previous alluvial operations within the Lulo Concession.  
 
The concession covers extensive shallow alluvial diggings within recent terraces of the Cacuilo River. This 
work was undertaken by artisanal miners (garimpeiros) and was concentrated along the south-western side 
of the river immediately to the northeast of the local centre of Tchamiquilegue. It is reported that more 
than 10,000 garimpeiros were operating on the concession prior to their removal from the area in 2008. 
 
The garimpeiro workings were not mechanised (see Figure 4) and mainly targeted exposed and easily 
accessible gravels.  The extent and intensity of these diggings can be seen from the accompanying image 
(Figure 3). Although production figures for the garimpeiro workings do not exist, the presence of several 
diamond buyers operating from Tchamiquilegue suggests significant diamond production. There are 
numerous unconfirmed, reports of large (>50 carats) high-value diamonds being recovered from the Cacuilo 
River diggings. 
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Figure 3 - Google Earth image of Garimpeiro Workings 

The area around Lonrho’s camp (see Figure 2).  
The white areas are pale sands exposed by the diggings 

 

 
Figure 4 - Garimpeiro diggings on Terraces of the Cacuilo River. 

The photograph was taken in 2005 before the garimpeiros were removed from the area. 
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Figure 5 – Diggings from the same area taken in May of this year 

 
A detailed mapping program to document the garimpeiro diggings is currently underway. Lonrho geologists 
are using the Company’s excavator to expose and evaluate gravel horizons up-slope of the old workings. 
The gravels in the Cacuilo terraces contain remarkable concentrations (estimated at over 2%) of 
recognisable coarse kimberlitic minerals (mainly picroilmenite and pyrope garnet).  
 
Lonrho are planning to sample gravel areas and terraces along the flanks of the Cacuilo River that were 
inaccessible to the garimpeiros. The company will excavate several 200-500 tonne samples from close to 
the camp and within the same gravel horizons targeted by the garimpeiro diggings. This gravel will be used 
to field commission the DMS plant and define the grade and value of the diamonds in this part of the 
Cacuilo alluvial system. 
 
In addition to sampling the gravels in the valley of the Cacuilo River, Lonrho will also sample alluvials from 
the major tributaries draining into this river. With this program will attempt to establish the diamond 
grades of the tributaries and to identify drainage systems that contain kimberlites with diamonds of higher 
value (larger or coloured stones). This work will help prioritize kimberlite exploration by characterizing the 
diamond populations of kimberlite clusters associated with each of the drainages. 
 
Of particular interest will be the Canguige River that drains the K72 kimberlite cluster. Historical reports 
suggest that gravels from this drainage carry diamond grades of between 9cpht and 20cpht. 
 
Kimberlite Exploration 
 
As previously noted, the aeromagnetic survey flown in 2008 resulted in the identification of 217 magnetic 
anomalies. Based on exploration results achieved in adjoining leases it is anticipated that around 80 percent 
of these anomalies will be caused by kimberlites. 
 
The kimberlites in this part of Angola were volcanically emplaced approximately 90 million years ago, during 
the Cretaceous Period. In the Lulo area, the kimberlites intrude either terrestrial, Permian aged sediments 
of the Karoo Supergroup or highly weathered Proterozoic metasediments. 
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The kimberlites were covered shortly after eruption by a fluvial sedimentary sequence of Late Cretaceous 
age known as the Calonda Formation. The Calonda Formation accumulated as fan deposits and braided 
stream washes of alluvial affinity. The prevailing climatic regime at the time of deposition was semi-arid. 
The Calonda succession within the Lulo Concession is not well known, but in other areas it comprises a 
poorly-sorted basal gravel (0.3-4m in thickness) overlain by gritty sands and silts. The basal Calonda gravels 
are often diamondiferous and are mined for diamonds in a number of localities throughout Angola. 
Extensive areas of Calonda Formation are recognised from regional (1:1,000,000) mapping (Figure 6). 
 
In the Lulo area the Calonda Formation is generally overlain by aeolian sands belonging to the Cainozoic-
aged, Kalahari Supergroup. The Kalahari lithologies are widespread throughout the Lunda region and reach 
thicknesses of up to 200m. Erosion in the Lulo region has removed much of the Kalahari cover and the 
1:1.000,000 geological map (Figure 6) indicates extensive areas of the older units exposed throughout the 
area. 
 
The kimberlites in the Lunda region have been little eroded since there emplacement. While no kimberlites 
in the Lulo Concession have been drilled, pipes in adjoining concessions have a “champagne glass” shaped 
cross section (Figure 7) and are sometimes overlain by crater-lake   sediments deposited in the crater of the 
original volcanic eruption.  
 
A simplified and schematic representation of the various geological units identified in the Lulo Concession is 
presented as Figure 7. 

 

 
Figure 6 – Geological Map – Lulo Area  

The geology is derived from the 1:1,000,000 Angolan Geology Sheet 
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Figure 7 – Schematic Section 

Shows the relationship of units in the Lulo Area (not to scale) 
 
During 2010, Lonrho plans to conduct an exploration program to examine and sample 40 of the larger 
magnetic targets within the concession. This program will involve surface mapping, drilling and some 
costeaning. Samples from each kimberlite identified, will be analysed for microdiamonds and indicator 
minerals. Future bulk sampling targets will be prioritised on the basis the diamond content and indicator 
mineral chemistry. 
 
The bulldozer will be used to cut tracks into the various kimberlite targets. These tracks will be used to 
allow drill and 4-wheel drive access and to speed up access for the excavator. A total of approximately 
100km of tracks will be needed to access the various anomalies. 
 
Of particular interest is the anomaly cluster in the headwaters of the Canguige River. Two anomalies in this 
area were sampled during 2008 (K71 and K72) and both produced high kimberlitic indicator mineral counts. 
Kimberlite outcrop was identified at the K72 site and from an indicator mineral chemistry viewpoint; this 
kimberlite has the most encouraging geochemical mineral signature of the targets tested to date.  
 
In recent weeks, Lonrho have re-established access to the outcropping K72 kimberlite cluster. On the basis 
of magnetic signature and surface mapping it is estimated that the K72 pipe has a surface area in excess of 
30ha. The initial focus of kimberlite exploration will be on K72 and a cluster of five other significant 
magnetic anomalies in the immediate vicinity. 
 
 
SOUTH AFRICA 
 
Provision Liquidation of South African operations 
 
During the year, the Company completed the sale of its South African subsidiary companies to New African 
Mining and African Renaissance Holdings. 
 
The sale agreement provides that Lonrho is fully indemnified against all and any claims arising from the 
diamond mining operations previously carried out at Schmidtsdrift and, in particular, claims by the Standard 
Bank of South Africa and other banks which could have resulted in claims against the Company of more 
than $2 million. 
 
Furthermore, all environmental rehabilitation and operational obligations have been assumed by the 
Purchasers and the sale terminates the Company’s involvement in South Africa. 
 
The completion of the sale has enabled the Company to focus its efforts and resources on its core asset, the 
Lulo Diamond Concession in Angola. 
 
Competent Persons Statement 
The exploration information in this review is based on information has been reviewed and/or compiled by David Jones BSc (Hons) MSc 
of Ascidian Prospecting Pty Ltd, who is a Corporate Member of the Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy. Mr Jones is a 
director of the Company and has sufficient experience which is relevant to the style of mineralization and type of deposit under 
consideration and to the activity which it is undertaking to qualify as a Competent Person as defined in the 2004 Edition of the 
Australasian Code for Reporting Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves. Mr Jones consents to the inclusion in the 
document of the matters based on this information in the form and context in which it appears. 
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The ASX Listing Rules require listed companies to include in their Annual Report a statement disclosing the extent to 
which they have complied with the commendations of the ASX Corporate Governance Council in the reporting period.  
These recommendations are guidelines designed to improve the efficiency, quality and integrity of the Company.  The 
recommendations are not prescriptive so that if a company considers that a recommendation is inappropriate having 
regard to its own circumstances, the company has the flexibility not to follow it.  Where a company has not followed all 
the recommendations, the Annual Report must identify which recommendations have not been followed and give 
reasons for not following them. 
 
The Company’s Corporate Governance Charter, this Corporate Governance Statement and other information for 
shareholders is displayed on the Company’s website www.lonrhomining.com. 
 
At the end of this Statement there is a table which sets out the recommendations and states whether the Company has 
complied with each recommendation in the reporting period and the reasons for non-compliance of any 
recommendation are given. 
 
Role of the Board 
The Board’s primary responsibility is to oversee the Company’s business activities and management for the benefit of 
shareholders which it accomplishes by: 
 
• establishing corporate governance and ethical business standards; 
• setting and monitoring objectives, goals and strategic direction with a view to maximising shareholder value; 
• approving and monitoring budgets and financial performance; 
• ensuring adequate internal controls exist and are appropriately monitored for compliance; 
• ensuring significant business risks are identified and appropriately managed; 
• approving financial and other reporting prior to lodgement with statutory bodies and release to shareholders; 
• ensuring the composition of the Board is appropriate, selecting directors for appointment to the Board and 

reviewing the performance of the Board and the contributions of individual directors;  
• setting remuneration policy and evaluating the performance of senior executives. 
 
Board Composition 
The Board comprises two non-executive directors (David Lenigas, who is Chairman, and Geoffrey White), one 
independent director (Kagiso Chikane), a chief executive officer (Miles Kennedy) and an executive technical director 
(David Jones). 
 
The Board considers that an independent director is a non-executive director who meets the criteria for independence 
included in the Recommendations but with its present composition the Board is of the opinion that only one of the 
directors meets this criteria. 
 
Also, the Board has not at this time set any specific materiality thresholds in relation to the directors on the basis that 
such are considered subjective, may depend on each relevant situation and do not impact on independence criteria. 
 
All directors have a broad range of qualifications, experience and expertise in managing diamond exploration 
companies, as set out in the Directors’ Report.  There is no requirement for any director’s shareholding qualification. 
 
As the Company’s activities increase in size and scope the composition and size of the Board will be reviewed 
periodically to ensure it comprises the optimum number of directors required to adequately supervise the Company’s 
business. 
 
The evaluation of individual director’s performance is undertaken by the Chairman as and when appropriate. 
 
All directors, apart from the Chief Executive Officer, are subject to shareholder re-election by rotation at least every 
three years.  The Company’s Constitution provides that one-third of the directors retire by rotation at each Annual 
General Meeting.  Those directors who are retiring may submit themselves for re-election by shareholders, including an 
director appointed to fill a casual vacancy since the date of the last AGM. 
 
Access to Independent Professional Advice 
The Company acknowledges that directors require high quality information and advice on which to base their decisions 
and conditions.  With the prior approval of the Chairman, all directors have the right to seek independent legal and 
other professional advice at the Company’s expense concerning any aspect of the Company’s operations or 
undertakings in order to fulfil their duties and responsibilities as directors.  If the Chairman is unable or unwilling to give 
approval, Board approval will be sufficient. 
 
 
 
 

http://www.lonrhomining.com/�
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Board Processes 
The Board of the Company meets on a regular basis.  The agenda for these meetings is prepared by the Chief Executive 
Officer and the Company Secretary in conjunction with the directors.  Relevant information is circulated to directors in 
advance of Board meetings. 
 
Board Committees 
The Company does not have at this time any of the recommended committees covering nomination, audit or 
remuneration.  The full Board undertakes the functions of these individual committees.  Given the composition of the 
Board and the size of the Company it is considered that individual committees are not presently warranted. 
 
Role of Management 
The Board has delegated responsibilities and authorities to the executive staff to enable management to conduct the 
Company’s day-to-day activities.  Matters which are not covered by these delegations, such as approvals which exceed 
certain limits or do not form part of the approved budget require Board approval. 
 
An evaluation of the performance of senior management during each financial year, including the Chief Executive 
Officer is undertaken at a meeting of the non-executive members of the Board, with the Chairman discussing this 
review separately with the Chief Executive Officer.  This is considered to be an appropriate process as the Company is in 
the exploration and evaluation stage therefore it is not possible to evaluate performance against revenue or profit 
targets. 
 
Ethical Standards 
As part of the Board’s commitment to the highest standard of conduct, the Company has adopted a Code of Conduct to 
guide executives, management and employees in carrying out their duties and responsibilities.  The Code of Conduct is 
incorporated with the Charter and encompasses: 
- responsibilities to shareholders; 
- compliance with laws and regulations; 
- relationships with clients and customers 
- conflicts of interest; 
- employment practices; and 
- responsibilities to the community. 
All directors are required to adhere to a corporate ethics policy and they are restricted from dealing in Company 
securities when they are in possession of price sensitive information and during specified periods before or after the 
release of half and full year results.  The corporate ethics policy and the securities dealings restrictions are also detailed 
in the Charter. 
 
The Board has resolved that the relevant sections of the Charter, particularly the Code of Conduct, corporate ethics 
policy, securities dealings restrictions and continuous disclosure obligations should also extend to cover all executives, 
employees and consultants of the Company. 
 
Continuous Disclosure and Shareholder Communication 
The Board is committed to the promotion of investor confidence by ensuring that trading in the Company’s securities 
takes place in an efficient, competitive and informed market in accordance with continuous disclosure obligations 
under the ASX Listing Rules, the Company has procedures in place to ensure that all price sensitive information is 
identified, reviewed by management and disclosed to the ASX in a timely manner.  These are also detailed in the 
Charter.  All information disclosure to the ASX is posed on the Company’s website. 
 
Shareholders are forwarded the Company’s Annual Report if requested and documents relating to each general 
meeting, being the Notice of Meeting, any explanatory memorandum and a proxy form, and are invited to attend these 
meetings.  The Company’s external auditor is also required to be present at the Annual General Meetings to answer any 
queries shareholders may have with regard to the audit and preparation and content of the Audit Report. 
 
Managing Business Risk 
The Board constantly monitors the operational and financial aspects of the Company’s activities and is responsible for 
the implementation and ongoing review of the business risks that could affect the Company.  Duties in relation to risk 
management that conducted by the Board include, but are not limited to: 
- initiate action to prevent or reduce the adverse effects of risk; 
- control further treatment of risks until the level of risk becomes acceptable; 
- identify and record any problems relating to the management of risk; 
- initiate, recommend and provide solutions through designated channels; 
- verify the implementation of solutions; and 
- communicate and consult internally and externally as appropriate. 
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In accordance with section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001, the persons performing the roles of Chief Executive 
Officer and Chief Financial Officer are required to provide a declaration to the Board that the financial records of the 
Company have been properly maintained, the financial statements comply with the accounting standards and give a 
true and fair view of the Company’s financial position and performance. In addition, as required by the 
Recommendations, the declaration is founded on a found system of risk management and internal control which 
implements policies adopted by the Board and the Company’s risk management and internal compliance control system 
is operating efficiently and effectively in all material respects in relation to the financial reporting risks. 
 
The Company summarises below its compliance with the ASX Corporate Governance Council’s Revised Principles and 
Recommendations. 
 
Principles & Recommendations  Compliance  Comply  
Principle 1 – Lay Solid Foundations for Management and Oversight 
1.1 Establish the functions reserved to the Board of 
directors (Board) of Lonrho Mining Limited 
(Company) and those delegated to manage and 
disclose those functions  

The Board is responsible for the overall 
corporate governance of the 
Company.  
The Board has adopted a Board 
charter that formalises its roles and 
responsibilities and defines the 
matters that are reserved for the 
Board and specific matters that are 
delegated to management. 
On appointment of a director, the 
Company issues a letter of 
appointment setting out the terms and 
conditions of appointment to the 
Board.  

Compliant  

1.2 Disclose the process for evaluating the 
performance of senior executives  

The non-executive members of the 
Board undertake annual assessment of 
the executives’ performance. 
 

Complies to the extent that 
non-executive members of 
the Board undertake 
assessment of executives’ 
performance. 

1.3 Provide the information indicated in Guide to 
reporting on Principle 1  

A summary of the Board’s functions 
and responsibilities has been disclosed 
on the Company’s website and is 
summarised in this Corporate 
Governance Statement.  

Complies  

   

Principle 2 – Structure the Board to Add Value 
2.1 A majority of the Board should be independent 
directors  

The majority of the Board’s directors 
are not independent as a majority of 
the Board are either related parties of 
a substantial shareholder or are 
executive directors of the Company.  
Mrs Kagiso Chikane is an independent 
non-executive director. 
Messrs. David Lenigas and Geoffrey 
White are non-executive directors. 
Messrs Miles Kennedy and David Jones 
are executive directors.  

Does not comply however 
the skills and experience of 
both the independent and 
non-independent directors 
allow the Board to act in 
the best interests of 
shareholders.  

2.2 The chair should be an independent director  Mr David Lenigas is a non-executive 
director of the Board but is not 
independent.  

Does not comply – refer 
explanation in 2.1. 

2.3 The roles of chair and chief executive officer 
should not be exercised by the same individual  

Mr David Lenigas is the chairman and 
Mr Miles Kennedy is the chief 
executive officer. 

Complies. 

2.4 The Board should establish a nomination 
committee  

Given the size of the Board, it was 
determined that the Board will execute 
the functions of a nomination 
committee and that a separate 
nomination committee is unnecessary.  
 

Does not comply for 
reasons given under 2.6 
below.  
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2.5 Disclose the process for evaluating the 
performance of the Board, its committees and 
individual directors.  

The Company did not conduct a 
performance evaluation of the Board, 
and has not adopted a performance 
evaluation policy.  

Does not comply. Refer 1.2 
above.  

2.6 Provide the information indicated in the Guide 
to reporting on Principle 2  

This information has been disclosed 
(where applicable) in the Directors’ 
Report in the Company’s 2010 Annual 
Report. 
Mrs Kagiso Chikane is an independent 
director of the Company. A director is 
considered independent when he 
substantially satisfies the test for 
independence as set out in the ASX 
Corporate Governance 
Recommendations. 
Members of the Board are able to take 
independent professional advice at the 
expense of the Company.  
The Board carries out the functions of a 
nomination committee. 
In accordance with the information 
suggested in Guide to Reporting on 
Principle 2, the Company has disclosed 
full details of its Directors in the 
Director’s Report. Other disclosure 
material as suggested in Guide to 
Reporting on Principle 2 has been made 
available on the Company’s website.  

Does not comply.  
Given the size of the Board, 
the Directors determined 
that it will execute the 
functions of a nomination 
committee and that a 
separate nomination 
committee is unnecessary. 
In addition, the Board does 
not consist of a majority of 
independent directors 
however the skills and 
experience of both the 
independent and non-
independent directors 
allows the Board to act in 
the best interests of 
shareholders.  

   

Principle 3 – Promote Ethical and Responsible Decision Making 
3.1 Establish a code of conduct and disclose the 
code or a summary of the code.  

The Board has adopted a code of 
conduct that is contained within the 
Board charter. The code establishes a 
clear set of values that emphasise a 
culture encompassing strong corporate 
governance, sound business practices 
and good ethical conduct. 
The code of conduct is encompassed 
within the Board Charter and is 
available on the Company’s website.  

Complies.  

3.2 Establish a policy concerning trading in 
Company securities by directors, senior executives 
and employees and disclose the policy or a 
summary of that policy.  

The Company has adopted a securities 
trading policy that applies to trading in 
shares in the Company by any director 
or employee of the Company.  
This policy is available on the 
Company’s website.  

Complies.  

3.3 Provide the information indicated in Guide to 
reporting on Principle 3.  

The code of conduct and securities 
trading policy are available on the 
Company’s website. The securities 
trading policy is summarised in this 
Corporate Governance Statement.  

Complies.  

   
Principle 4 – Safeguard Integrity in Financial Reporting 
4.1 The Board should establish an audit committee  An audit committee has not been 

established by the Board.  
Does not comply. 
Given the size of the Board, 
the Directors determined 
that it will execute the 
functions of an audit 
committee and that a 
separate audit committee 
is unnecessary.  
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4.2 The audit committee should be structured so 
that it consists of only non-executive directors, a 
majority of independent directors, is chaired by an 
independent chair who is not chair of the Board and 
have at least 3 members.  

 Does not comply, for 
reasons given in 4.1 above.  

4.3 The audit committee should have a formal 
charter  

An audit committee has not been 
established by the Board. The functions 
of an audit committee are reserved for 
the Board and operate under the Board 
Charter  

Does not comply, for 
reasons given in 4.1 above.  

4.4 Provide the information indicated in Guide to 
reporting on Principle 4  

The functions associated with 
safeguarding the integrity in financial 
reporting are carried out by the Board; 
is encompassed within the Board 
Charter which is available on the 
Company’s website and summarised in 
this Corporate Governance Statement.  

Does not comply, for 
reasons given in 4.1 above.  

   
Principle 5 – Make Timely and Balanced Disclosure 
5.1 Establish written policies designed to ensure 
compliance with ASX Listing Rule disclosure 
requirements and to ensure accountability at a 
senior executive level for that compliance and 
disclose those policies or a summary of those 
policies  

The Company has adopted a 
continuous disclosure policy, to ensure 
that it complies with the continuous 
disclosure regime under the ASX Listing 
Rules and the Corporations Act 2001. 
This policy is available on the 
Company’s website.  

Complies  

5.2 Provide the information indicated in the Guide 
to reporting on Principle 5  

The Company’s continuous disclosure 
policy is available on the Company’s 
website.  

Complies  

   
Principle 6 – Respect the Rights of Shareholders 
6.1 Design a communications policy for promoting 
effective communication with shareholders and 
encouraging their participation at general meetings 
and disclose that policy or a summary of that policy.  

The Company has adopted a 
shareholder communications policy. 
The Company uses its website 
www.lonrhomining.com, annual 
report, market announcements and 
media disclosures to communicate 
with its shareholders, as well as 
encourage participation at general 
meetings. This policy is available on the 
Company’s website.  

Complies.  

6.2 Provide the information indicated in the Guide 
to reporting on Principle 6  

The Company’s shareholder 
communications policy is available on 
the Company’s website.  

Complies.  

   

Principle 7 – Recognise and Manage Risk 
7.1 Establish policies for the oversight and 
management of material business risks and disclose 
a summary of these policies  

The Company has not adopted a risk 
management statement.  

Does not comply. However 
ultimate responsibility for 
risk oversight and risk 
management rests with the 
Board and operates under 
the Board Charter.  

7.2 The Board should require management to 
design and implement the risk management and 
internal control system to manage the Company’s 
material business risks and report to it on whether 
those risks are being managed effectively. The 
Board should disclose that management has 
reported to it as to the effectiveness of the 
Company’s management of its material business 
risks.  

The Company has identified key risks 
within the business. In the ordinary 
course of business, management 
monitor and manage these risks. Key 
operational and financial risks are 
presented to and reviewed by the 
Board at each Board meeting.  

Complies  
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7.3 The Board should disclose whether it has 
received assurance from the chief executive officer 
and chief financial officer that the declaration 
provided in accordance with section 295A of the 
Corporations Act 2001 is founded on a sound 
system of risk management and internal control 
and that the system is operating efficiently and 
effectively in all material respects in relation to the 
financial reporting risks.  

The Board as a whole has made a 
declaration under section 295A of the 
Corporations Act 2001 that the 
financial accounting system is founded 
on a sound system of risk management 
and internal control and that the 
system is operating efficiently and 
effectively in all material respects in 
relation to the financial reporting risks. 

Complies  

7.4 Provide the information indicated in Guide to 
reporting on Principle 7  

The Board has not adopted an audit 
and risk charter, however has 
identified key risks within the business.  

Complies  

   

Principle 8 – Remunerate Fairly and Responsibly 
8.1 The Board should establish a remuneration 
committee  

The Board has not established a 
remuneration committee and has not 
adopted a remuneration charter.  

Does not comply. Given the 
size of the Board, the 
Directors have determined 
that it will execute the 
functions of a 
remuneration committee 
and that a separate 
remuneration committee is 
unnecessary.  

8.2 Clearly distinguish the structure of non-
executive directors’ remuneration from that of 
executive directors and senior executives.  

The Company complies with the 
guidelines for executive remuneration 
packages and non-executive director 
remuneration.  

Complies.  

8.3 Provide the information indicated in the Guide 
to reporting on Principle 8  

The Board has not adopted a 
remuneration committee charter. The 
Company does not have any schemes 
for retirement benefits other than 
superannuation for non-executive 
directors.  

Does not comply. Given the 
size of the Board, the Board 
has determined that it will 
execute the functions of a 
remuneration committee 
and that a separate 
remuneration committee is 
unnecessary. With respect 
to this compliance issue, 
the Board will review its 
position annually. 
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Additional information current as at 23 June 2010 required by Australia Securities Exchange Limited Rules and not 
disclosed elsewhere in this Report. 
 
1. CAPITAL STRUCTURE 
 
 Ordinary Share Capital 
 
 647,915,647 ordinary fully paid shares held by 711 shareholders. 
 

Spread Number of  
Holders 

Number of  
Shares 

1 to 1,000 13 1,401 
1,001 to 5,000 42 163,026 
5,001 to 10,000 41 373,580 
10,001 to 100,000 242 11,393,471 
100,001 - 373 662,984,169 

 
 As at 23 June 2010 there were 183 fully paid ordinary shareholders holding less than a marketable parcel. 
 

Options 
 

 404,949,388 listed options expiring 18 November 2010 exercisable at $0.01 held by 333 option holders. 
 135,629,982 listed options expiring 30 June 2012 exercisable at $0.15 held by 76 option holders. 

 
Spread Number of  

Holders 
Number of  

18/11/10 Options 
Number of  

Holders 
Number of  

30/6/12 Options 
1 to 1,000 1 150 1 1 
1,001 to 5,000 3 10,500 - - 
5,001 to 10,000 13 84,383 - - 
10,001 to 100,000 95 3,968,225 7 606,666 
100,001 - 221 400,886,130 68 135,023,315 
Total 333 404,949,388 76 135,629,982 

 
 40,010,000 unlisted options expiring 30 June 2010 exercisable at $0.50 
 4,000,000 unlisted options expiring 30 June 2010 exercisable at $0.35 
 4,000,000 unlisted options expiring 30 June 2010 exercisable at $0.30 
 10,000,000 unlisted options expiring 18 December 2011 exercisable at $0.375 
 19,750,000 unlisted options expiring 30 September 2012 exercisable at $0.50 
 
2. ON-MARKET BUY-BACK 
 

There is no current on-market buy back. 
 

3. SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDER 
 
 Lonrho Africa Holdings Ltd holds 101,501,126 ordinary fully paid shares, being 15.04 percent of the Company’s 

issued capital. 
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4. TOP 20 HOLDERS OF QUOTED SECURITIES 
 

Fully Paid Ordinary Shares   
Name Number Held % of Issued Capital 
Lonrho Africa Holdings Ltd 101,501,126 15.04 
CS Fourth Nominees Pty Ltd 84,465,408 12.51 
HSBC Custody Nominees Aust Ltd 62,698,250 9.29 
Lujeta Pty Ltd 31,868,748 4.72 
Palmrose Pty Ltd 16,369,750 2.43 
Nutsville Pty Ltd 12,158,333 1.80 
Don Forshaw Batley 11,875,000 1.76 
Middle East Petroleum SVC 11,249,998 1.67 
Brian P Byass  9,009,588 1.33 
Kapiri Holdings Pty Ltd 7,060,731 1.05 
Brent J Evitt 6,200,000 0.92 
Andrea R Brooks 6,000,000 0.89 
ANZ Nominees Ltd 5,576,264 0.83 
Barque Investments Pty Ltd 5,253,828 0.78 
Kyle S Passmore 5,000,000 0.74 
Bruce L Hodges 5,000,000 0.74 
Merill Lynch Aus Nominees Pty Ltd 5,000,000 0.74 
Zell Pty Ltd 5,000,000 0.74 
Fullerton Private Cap Pty Ltd 5,000,000 0.74 
Temorex Pty Ltd 4,500,000 0.76 
 400,787,024 59.48 

 
Listed Options expiring 18 November 2010 exercisable at $0.01 
Name Number Held % of Issued Capital 
CS Fourth Nominees Pty Ltd 50,679,245 12.51 
HSBC Custody Nom Aust Ltd 37,486,070 9.26 
Lonrho Africa Holdings Ltd 23,663,872 5.84 
Lujeta Pty Ltd 19,121,249 4.72 
Kitchener Hume & Campbell 18,300,000 4.52 
Nutsville Pty Ltd 9,295,000 2.30 
Don F Batley 9,125,000 2.25 
Benjamin Dark 9,000,000 2.22 
Zell Pty Ltd 7,314,936 1.81 
Middle East Petroleum SVC 6,749,999 1.67 
Brent J Evitt 6,000,000 1.48 
Thomas Finley 6,000,000 1.48 
Boutique Venues Pty Ltd 5,000,000 1.23 
Great Eastern Hldgs Pty Ltd 4,290,000 1.06 
Citicorp Nom Pty Ltd 4,217,500 1.04 
Notezy Pty Ltd 4,000,000 0.99 
Matthew D Burford 3,700,000 0.91 
Merrill Lynch Aust Nom Pty Ltd 3,606,130 0.89 
Temorex Pty Ltd 3,500,000 0.86 
Daryl G Beattie 3,500,000 0.86 
 234,549,001 57.90 
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Listed Options expiring 30 June 2012 exercisable at $0.15 
Name Number Held % of Issued Capital 
Lonrho Africa Holdings Ltd 28,333,332 20.89 
CS Fourth Nominees Pty Ltd 13,000,000 9.58 
Lujeta Pty Ltd 11,426,666 8.42 
Alan D Dimmock 7,200,000 5.31 
HSBC Custody Nom Aust Pty Ltd 6,400,000 4.72 
MAK Super WA Pty Ltd 4,000,000 2.95 
Matthew L Fitzgerald 4,000,000 2.95 
Argonaut Investments Pty Ltd 4,000,000 2.95 
Geoffrey White 4,000,000 2.95 
Delstar International Ltd 4,000,000 2.95 
John LG Firth 4,000,000 2.95 
Oglobry Kagiso Chikane 4,000,000 2.95 
Kapiri Holdings Pty Ltd 3,721,499 2.74 
Middle East Petroleum SVC 3,333,332 2.46 
Nutsville Pty Ltd 3,166,666 2.33 
Perizia Investment Pty Ltd 3,006,500 2.22 
Barque Investment Pty Ltd 2,191,666 1.62 
David F Wembridge 2,000,000 1.47 
RH & FM Beevor 1,333,332 0.98 
Don F Batley 1,250,000 0.92 
 114,362,993 84.31 
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The directors present their report together with the financial report of Lonrho Mining Limited (the Company or Lonrho) and 
of the Group, being the Company and its subsidiaries, for the financial year ended 28 February 2010 and independent 
auditor’s report thereon. 

1. Directors 

The directors of the Company at any time during or since the end of the financial year are: 

Name Position Date of appointment Date of resignation 

M Kennedy Chief Executive Officer 12 September 2008 - 

D Jones Exploration Director 26 February 2010 - 

D Lenigas Non-executive Chairman 21 August 2006 - 

K Chikane Non-executive Director 26 April 2006 - 

G White Non-executive Director 1 July 2007 - 

J Firth Executive Director 12 September 2008 28 April 2009 

M Fitzgerald Finance Director 16 October 2008 26 February 2010 

The qualifications, experience and other directorships of the directors in office at the date of this report are: 

Miles Alistair Kennedy 
Chief Executive Officer 

Mr Kennedy has held directorships of Australian listed resource companies for the past 
25 years.  He is the non-executive Chairman of Marine Produce Australia Limited since 
June 2008, non-executive Chairman of Resource and Investment NL since September 
2006 and is a non-executive director of Pangea Diamondfields.  Mr Kennedy was non-
executive Chairman of Sandfire Resources NL from 2007 to 2009, the Executive 
Chairman of Kimberley Diamond Company NL from 1993 to 2007 and the non-executive 
Chairman of Blina Diamonds NL from 2002 to 2007.  He was the founding Chairman of 
Macraes Mining Company Ltd and has extensive experience in the management of public 
companies with specific emphasis in the resources industry.  He lives in Perth, Western 
Australia. 

David Jones 
Exploration Director 

Mr Jones is one of Australia’s most experienced and successful diamond exploration 
geologists.  He began his diamond exploration career in 1976 as part of the Ashton Joint 
Venture team conducting regional exploration programs in the Kimberley including 
preliminary exploration in the Ellendale Field.  He has held senior exploration and 
management positions with a number of diamond exploration companies including Gem 
Exploration, Ashton Mining, Cluff Resources, Metana Minerals, Western Reefs, Kimberley 
Diamond Company and Blina Diamonds, where he was Managing Director from 2004 to 
2007.  He has maintained an active consulting role with a number of public companies, 
including Blina Diamonds NL and Sandfire Resources NL.  He lives in Perth, Western 
Australia. 

David Anthony Lenigas 
Non-executive Chairman 

Mr Lenigas is a trained mining engineer with over 25 years of international resource 
industry experience covering the gold, coal, diamond and base metal sectors. He has 
served as managing director and chief executive officer of numerous listed and non-listed 
resource companies and is currently Executive Chairman of Lonrho Africa.  He is 
currently Chairman of Leni Gas & Oil Plc Mediterranean Oil & Gas and holds a non-
executive position at Global Coal Management Plc.  He resides in London, United 
Kingdom. 

Oglobry Kagiso Chikane 
Non-executive Director 

Mrs Chikane has 25 years of experience in academia both in South Africa and 
internationally.  She is a director of a number of companies including Brait South Africa 
Ltd.  She holds a BA and UED from the University of the North (Limpopo), BA (Hons) 
from University of South Africa (UNISA), BA Education (Hons) from the University of 
Witwatersrand (WITS), Master of Arts degree from the University of Wisconsin-Madison, 
USA and Management Advancement Programme from WITS Business School.  She was 
a senior lecturer at Vista University, now Johannesburg University.  Her international 
experience in academia includes lecturing at Boston University, Massachusetts.  She has, 
during the past 6 years, also established her career in business and has held senior 
management positions at the Council for Scientific and Industrial Research (CSIR).  She 
is currently the Centre Manager of the Meraka Institute, CSIR.  She resides in Midrand, 
South Africa. 

Geoffrey White 
Non-executive Director 

Mr White is currently Chief Executive Officer of Lonrho Plc.  Mr White most recently worked 
for the private office of His Highness Sheikh Khalifa Al Thani, in London.  During his 26 
year career, he has held senior management roles with Thomas Tiling Plc, BTR Plc and 
Dee Corporation Plc.  He has been responsible for planning, financing, developing and 
managing a range of projects in the leisure, industrial and natural resource sectors.  These 
projects include establishing joint ventures with corporations including Hilton International, 
Ford Motors (PAG), Praton International GmbH, FFS Refiners Pty Ltd, Sengamines Sarl, 
Oryx Natural Resources, African Mining Investments Ltd and Pegasus Energy Ltd.   He 
resides in London, United Kingdom. 
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2. Company Secretary 

Ms Jean Mathie holds the position of Company Secretary and was appointed to the position in September 2008.  She is also 
Company Secretary for listed Australian entities, Resource and Investment NL and Marine Produce Australia Limited. 

3. Directors’ meetings 

No directors’ meetings were held during the year.  All resolutions of the Board were made by circular resolution. 

4. Nature of operations and principal activities 

The Group’s principal activities during the course of the financial year were the exploration, development and 
commercialisation of diamond projects in Angola. 

5. Operating and financial review 

The consolidated loss from continuing operations for the year ended 28 February 2010 was $2,844,434 (2009: profit 
$771,432) and the consolidated loss attributable to owners of the company for the year ended 28 February 2010 was 
$2,844,434 (2009: $14,166,968). 
 
The total comprehensive income for the period attributable to owners of the company for the year ended 28 February 2010 
was income $733,888 (2009: loss $15,087,086). 
 

Project review, strategies and future prospects 

Angola 
 
Lulo Diamond Concession 
 
About Lulo 
 
The Lulo Diamond Concession covers a total area of approximately 3,000km2

• a high proportion of the magnetic anomalies in the area were likely to be kimberlites; 

 and is located in the Cuango River Basin 
within the Lunda Norte Province of north-eastern Angola in southern Africa. The project area is situated approximately 
630km from the capital city of Luanda and can be accessed via a sealed road. 
 
The project has significant diamond exploration potential, with some 29 kimberlites reported from the Concession area and 
extensive diamond-bearing alluvials (as indicated by garimpeiro activity) occurring along the Cacuilo and Lulo Rivers. 
 
A number of experts believe that the Cuango River Basin will become a prolific region for the production of diamonds. The 
Catoca mine, the world’s fourth largest kimberlite diamond mine, accounts for 60 percent of Angola’s diamond production 
and is located 90km east of the Lulo Diamond Concession. The Catoca mine produced approximately 7 million carats in 
2007. 
 
In accordance with normal practice in Angola, the Lulo Diamond Concession is operated as a Joint Venture with the 
Government-owned diamond company, Endiama, which is the exclusive concessionary for Angolan diamond mining rights. 
Under the joint venture arrangement, Lonrho holds a 39 percent interest in the Concession, with Endiama holding a 51 
percent interest and the remaining 10 percent owned by a private Angolan interest. 
 
Lonrho is the operator of the Concession and is obliged to fund and execute all exploration activities within the Concession 
area according to Programs of Work that are pre-approved by Endiama. In the event that a mining operation is 
commenced within the Concession, Lonrho is entitled to first recover all of its exploration and development costs, after 
which the proceeds will be shared proportionally between the stakeholders. 
 
Recent Exploration 
 
As reported in last year’s Annual Report, Lonrho completed a low-level MIDAS helicopter survey over 1,000km² of  the 
upper Cacuilo and Lulo Rivers in February 2008 to assist in the discovery of kimberlite deposits within the surveyed area at 
Lulo.  
 
This survey identified over 200 anomalies within the southern part of the concession. In December 2008 six aeromagnetic 
and/or satellite image targets were visited.  A 20-40kg soil sample was collected from the centre point of each anomaly 
with the heavy mineral fraction of the samples examined to recover kimberlitic indicator minerals. Kimberlitic pyrope 
garnets and/or picroilmenites were recovered from all of the samples. In addition, outcropping kimberlite was identified at 
the K72 site. 
 
The reconnaissance exploration program demonstrated that: 
 

• many of the kimberlites are only shallowly buried and some will outcrop; and 
• some initial evaluation and sampling of the anomalies could be undertaken using surface excavation techniques. 

 
The geophysical data (both aeromagnetics and radiometrics) were recently reinterpreted resulting in the identification of 40 
priority targets. The targets have a wide geographic spread and their selection was strongly influenced by the aerial extent 
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of the aeromagnetic anomaly, with larger anomalies generally considered higher priority. Fourteen of the targets selected 
also have coincident radiometric anomalies (uranium and/or thorium). As radiometric anomalies can be masked by less 
than a metre of overburden, it is possible that these targets may outcrop. 
 
Planning for Forthcoming Work Programme 
 
In addition to extensive alluvial diamond deposits defined by garimpeiro diggings, Lonrho has identified 217 magnetic 
anomalies at Lulo. Based on exploration results from adjoining tenements, it is considered likely that most (80%+) of the 
magnetic anomalies will be kimberlite pipes and dykes. None of these targets have been systematically explored or tested. 
 
During the 2009/10 financial year, Lonrho purchased a Cat322 excavator, a Cat928 front-end loader and a Cat D6 
bulldozer in South Africa at a cost of approximately A$400,000. The Company has also purchased second-hand a 15 
tonne per hour Dense Media Separation (DMS) plant to process kimberlitic and alluvial samples. 
 
Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the earth-moving machinery has arrived on site and is undertaking 
preliminary earthmoving operations. The DMS plant has been pre-commissioned in South Africa and is currently being 
packed prior to shipment to Lulo. Field-commissioning of the DMS will commence in June and should be completed during 
July 2010. 
 
Once the DMS is field-commissioned, the Company is then due to be refunded US$1.4 million that was lodged with 
Endiama as a cash bond at the time the initial Joint Venture agreement was signed.  
 
Kimberlite Exploration 
 
During the current financial year Lonrho is planning an exploration program to examine and sample 40 of the larger 
magnetic targets within the concession. This program will involve surface mapping, drilling and some costeaning. Samples 
from each kimberlite identified, will be analysed for microdiamonds and indicator minerals. Future bulk sampling targets will 
be prioritised on the basis the diamond content and indicator mineral chemistry. 
 
The bulldozer will be used to cut tracks into the various kimberlite targets. These tracks will be used to allow drill and 4-
wheel drive access and to speed up access for the excavator. A total of approximately 100km of tracks will be needed to 
access the various anomalies. 
 
Of particular interest is the anomaly cluster in the headwaters of the Canguige River. Two anomalies in this area were 
sampled during 2008 (K71 and K72) and both produced high kimberlitic indicator mineral counts. Kimberlite outcrop was 
identified at the K72 site and from an indicator mineral chemistry viewpoint, this kimberlite has the most encouraging 
geochemical mineral signature of the targets tested to date.  
 
In recent days, Lonrho have re-established access to the outcropping K72 kimberlite. On the basis of magnetic signature 
and surface mapping it is estimated that the pipe is likely to have a surface area in excess of 30ha. The initial focus of 
kimberlite exploration will be on K72 and a cluster of five other significant magnetic anomalies in the immediate vicinity. 
 
The Company is very optimistic about recovering diamonds this year, however only time and proper, systematic work will 
tell. 
 
Alluvial Sampling 
 
The Lulo concession covers  extensive shallow alluvial diggings in gravel terraces along the Cacuilo River. This work was 
undertaken by artisanal miners (garimpeiros) who concentrated on the exposed and easily accessible gravels. No formal 
production figures are available, however, it is reported that more than 10,000 garimpeiros were operating in the area prior 
to them being removed during 2008.   
 
Garimpeiro diggings are concentrated along the south-western side of the Cacuilo River immediately to the north of the 
local centre of Tchamiquilegue. Several diamond buyers operate from Tchamiquilegue and there have been numerous, 
though unconfirmed, reports of large (>50 carats) high-value diamonds being recovered from the Cacuilo River diggings. 
 
Lonrho's field camp is located near the centre of a 10 kilometre long belt of intensive garimpeiro workings. On its arrival, 
the DMS plant will be established close to the camp and its readily accessible water supply. Lonrho plans collect several 
200-500 tonne samples from close to the camp and within the gravels horizons targeted by the garimpeiro diggings. This 
gravel will be used to field commission the DMS plant and define the grade and value of the diamonds in this part of the 
Cacuilo alluvial system. 
 
The Company will also sample alluvial gravels from major tributaries of the Cacuilo River. This program will attempt to 
establish the diamond grades of the gravels and identify drainage basins that contain kimberlites with diamonds of higher 
value (larger or coloured stones). 
 
Historical reports suggest that gravels from the Canguige River (that drains the K72 kimberlite cluster) carry diamond 
grades of between 9cpht and 20cpht. 
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South Africa 
 
Provision Liquidation of South African operations 
 
During the year, the Company completed the sale of its South African subsidiary companies to New African Mining and 
African Renaissance Holdings. 
 
The sale agreement provides that Lonrho is fully indemnified against all and any claims arising from the diamond mining 
operations previously carried out at Schmidtsdrift and, in particular, claims by the Standard Bank of South Africa and other 
banks which could have resulted in claims against the Company of more than $2 million. 
 
Furthermore, all environmental rehabilitation and operational obligations have been assumed by the Purchasers and the 
sale terminates the Company’s involvement in South Africa. 
 
The completion of the sale will enable the Company to focus its efforts and resources on its core asset, the Lulo Diamond 
Concession in Angola. 
 
Review of financial condition 

For the year ended 28 February 2010 the consolidated entity recorded a loss of $2,844,434 and had a net working capital 
surplus of $2,432,906.  The Company recorded a loss of $2,844,434 and had a net working capital surplus of $2,162,595.   

The ability of the consolidated entity and parent entity to continue as a going concern is principally dependent upon: 

• continued shareholder support and funding, particularly from major shareholder Lonrho Plc, for the Lulo exploration 
program, most likely through loan funds, further entitlements issues or share placements, and 

• recovery of the receivable due to the Company from Endiama in Angola following the agreed Lulo exploration 
program and DMS Plant commissioning. 

Following the appointment of liquidators to the Group’s South African mining entities, the Group focused on its Angolan 
diamond exploration interests in the Lulo Project.  This project requires ongoing exploration work and funding.  The 
Group’s cash flow projections indicate that further funding will be required within 12 months of balance date and the 
Company is currently discussing these funding requirements with its key shareholders. 

Lonrho Plc is the largest shareholder of the company and has followed its rights in the entitlements issues completed 
during the period, as well as advancing loan funds required by the Group operations.   

Included in the net working capital surplus of the consolidated entity is $1,562,674 (US$1,400,000), which is refundable to 
the consolidated entity by Endiama in Angola within 30 days following successful commissioning of the DMS plant, 
expected around the end of July 2010. 

The Company has 405,949,388 unissued ordinary shares under option at the date of this report exercisable at $0.01 per 
share prior to 18 November 2010.  These options are currently in the money, and should they be exercised would result in 
proceeds to the Company of $4,059,494. 

The directors have prepared cash flow forecasts that indicate the consolidated entity and parent entity will have sufficient 
cash to meet all contractual commitments for the 12 months ending 31 May 2011. 

Based on the cash flow forecasts, the directors are satisfied that the going concern basis of preparation is appropriate.  
The financial report has therefore been prepared on a going concern basis, which assumes continuity of normal business 
activities and the realisation of assets and the settlement of liabilities in the ordinary course of business. 

Should the consolidated entity and parent entity be unable to continue as a going concern, they may be required to realise 
their assets and extinguish their liabilities other than in the ordinary course of business, and at amounts that differ from 
those stated in the financial statements. 

Significant changes in the state of affairs 

South African operations liquidated 

On 16 January 2009 an application was brought to the High Court of South Africa for the liquidation of Lonrho Mining SA 
(Pty) Ltd (formerly Nare Adamas (South Africa) Pty Ltd) and the High Court issued a provisional liquidation order against 
Lonrho Mining SA. The Provisional Liquidators were appointed on 29 January 2009 and the assets of Lonrho Mining SA, 
including the shares it holds in its wholly and partly owned subsidiaries, were placed under the control of the Provisional 
Liquidators and remained under the control of the Provisional Liquidators until the liquidation process was finalised during 
October 2009.  

Corporate 

There have been changes in the composition of the Board during the year.  Details of changes of the Company’s directors 
are provided in section 1 of the Directors’ Report. 

6. Dividends 

No dividends were paid or declared during the current or prior financial year. 
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7. Environmental regulation 

The Group’s exploration activities are subject to various environmental regulations.  The Board is responsible for the regular 
monitoring of environmental exposures and compliance with environmental regulations.  The Group is committed to 
achieving a high standard of environmental performance and conducts its activities in a professional and environmentally 
conscious manner and in accordance with each country’s applicable laws and permit requirements.  The Board believes that 
the Group has adequate systems in place for the management of its environmental requirements and is not aware of any 
breach of those environmental requirements as they apply to the Company and the Group. 

8. Events subsequent to reporting date 

Conversion of options 

On 16 April 2010 the Company announced the issue of 1,000,000 ordinary shares from the conversion of 1,000,000 options 
in the company at an exercise price of $0.01 per option to raise $10,000. 

9. Likely developments 

Expected results of certain operations of the Group and likely developments in those operations are included within this 
Directors’ Report.  Disclosure of any further information has not been included in this Directors’ Report because, in the 
opinion of the directors, to do so would result in unreasonable prejudice to the Group. 

10. Directors’ interests 

The relevant interest of each director in the shares and options over such instruments issued by the companies within the 
Group and other related bodies corporate, as notified by the directors to the ASX in accordance with S205G(1) of the 
Corporations Act 2001, at the date of this report is as follows. 

 Ordinary shares Options over ordinary shares 

Director Fully paid Expiring 
30 Sep 2012 

Expiring 
30 Jun 2012 

Expiring 
18 Nov 2010 

Expiring 
30 Jun 2010 

M Kennedy 6,250,000 - 4,000,000 3,750,000 - 

D Jones 2,500,000 - - 150,000 - 

D Lenigas - 2,000,000 4,000,000  4,000,000 

K Chikane - 2,000,000 4,000,000  2,000,000 

G White - 2,000,000 4,000,000  - 

11. Share options 

Unissued shares under options 

At the date of this report unissued ordinary shares of the Company under option are: 

Expiry date Exercise price Number of shares 

30 June 2010 $0.30 4,000,000 

30 June 2010 $0.35 4,000,000 

30 June 2010 $0.50 40,010,000 

18 November 2010 $0.01 404,949,388 

15 December 2011 $0.375 10,000,000 

30 June 2012 $0.15 131,629,982 

30 September 2012 $0.50 19,750,000 

These options do not entitle the holder to participate in any share issue of the Company or any other body corporate. 

Options granted to directors and executives of the Company 

During or since the end of the financial year, the Company granted options for no consideration over unissued ordinary 
shares in the Company to the following directors and to the following of the five most highly remunerated officers of the 
Company as part of their remuneration. 

 
Director 

Number of options 
granted 

 
Exercise price 

 
Expiry date 

D Lenigas 4,000,000 $0.15 30 Jun 2012 

All options were granted during the financial year.  No options have been granted since the end of the financial year.  Further 
details are included in the Remuneration Report. 

 



Financial report for the year ended 28 February 2010 
Directors’ Report 
 

6 | P a g e    LONRHO MINING LIMITED ABN 44 111 501 663 

Share options 

The following options over ordinary shares were issued by the Company during or since the end of the financial year: 

Expiry date Exercise price Number of shares 

30 June 2010 $0.15 9,250,000 

18 November 2010 $0.01 405,949,388 

30 June 2010 $0.30 4,000,000 

30 June 2012 $0.35 4,000,000 

Exercise of options 

1,000,000 options over ordinary shares were exercised at $0.01 per option subsequent to the end of the financial year.   

Lapse of options 

5,000,000 options over ordinary shares lapsed during the financial year. 

12. Remuneration report – audited 

12.1 Principles of compensation 

Key management personnel (KMP) have authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of 
the Company and the Group, including directors of the Company and other executives.  Key management personnel 
comprise the directors of the Company and executives for the Company and the Group including the five most highly 
remunerated Company and Group executives. 

Compensation levels for key management personnel, the Company Secretary and relevant key management personnel of 
the Group are competitively set to attract and retain appropriately qualified and experienced directors and executives.  The 
remuneration committee obtains independent advice on the appropriateness of compensation packages of both the 
Company and the Group given trends in comparative companies both locally and internationally, and the objectives of the 
Company’s compensation strategy. 

The compensation structures are designed to attract suitably qualified candidates, reward the achievement of strategic 
objectives, and achieve the broader outcome of creation of value for shareholders.  Compensation packages include a mix 
of fixed compensation, equity-based compensation as well as employer contributions to superannuation funds. 

Shares and options may only be issued to directors subject to approval by shareholders in general meeting. 

Fixed compensation 

Fixed compensation consists of base compensation, determined from a market review, to reflect core performance 
requirements and expectations of the relevant position and statutory employer contributions to superannuation funds.  
Compensation levels are reviewed periodically by the remuneration committee through a process that considers individual, 
segment and overall performance of the Group. 

Directors’ fees 

Total compensation for directors and non-executive directors is set based on advice from external advisors with reference to 
fees paid to other directors of comparable companies.  Directors’ fees are presently limited to a total of $950,000 per annum, 
excluding the fair value of any options granted.  Directors’ fees cover all main Board activities and membership of any 
committee.  The Board has no established retirement or redundancy schemes in relation to directors. 

Equity-based compensation (Long term incentive) 

The Board has introduced a number of equity-based long-term incentives (LTIs) to promote continuity of employment and to 
provide additional incentive to key management personnel to increase shareholder wealth.  LTIs are provided as options 
over ordinary shares of the Company and are provided to key management personnel based on their level of seniority and 
position within the Group.  Options may only be issued to directors subject to approval by shareholders in general meeting. 

During the financial year the Company announced the issue of 4,000,000 listed options to subscribe for ordinary shares in 
the Company at any time on or before 30 June 2012 at an exercise price of $0.15 each.  The options were granted on 6 
August 2009 following shareholder approval in general meeting on 30 July 2009.  The options do not have attaching vesting 
conditions and each option is convertible to one fully paid ordinary share.  There are no voting or dividend rights attached to 
the options.  Voting rights will be attached to the ordinary issued shares when the options have been exercised. 

Short-term and long-term incentive structure and consequences of performance on shareholder wealth 

Given the Company’s principal activity during the course of the financial year consisted of exploration and evaluation, the 
Board has given more significance to service criteria instead of market related criteria in setting the Company’s incentive 
schemes.  Accordingly, at this stage the Board does not consider the Company’s earnings or earning measures to be an 
appropriate key performance indicator.  The issue of options as part of the remuneration package of directors is an 
established practice for listed exploration companies and has the benefit of conserving cash whilst appropriately rewarding 
the directors.  In considering the relationship between the Company’s remuneration policy and the consequences for the 
Company’s shareholder wealth, changes in share price are analysed. 
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Service contracts 

Miles Kennedy 

Mr Kennedy has been engaged to act as the Company’s Chief Executive Officer with an effective date from 12 September 
2008.  Mr Kennedy is entitled to receive director fees of AU$100,000 (gross) per annum, which is subject to review by the 
Board from time to time.  The appointment may be terminated for various causes of a standard nature.  Upon termination, no 
benefits are due. 

David Jones 

Mr Jones has been engaged to act as the Company’s Exploration Director with an effective date from 26 February 2010.  Mr 
Jones is entitled to receive director fees of AU$50,000 (gross) per annum, which is subject to review by the Board from time 
to time.  The appointment may be terminated for various causes of a standard nature.  Upon termination, no benefits are 
due. 

David Lenigas 

By a letter of appointment dated 1 November 2006, Mr Lenigas accepted his appointment as a non-executive director.  Mr 
Lenigas was entitled to receive director fees of AU$60,000 (gross) per annum effective from 21 August, subject to review by 
the Board from time to time.  The appointment may be terminated for various causes of a standard nature.  Upon 
termination, no benefits are due.  On 30 June 2007 Mr Lenigas was appointed as non-executive chairman and his directors 
fees were increased to GBP33,000 (gross) per annum. 

Kagiso Chikane 

By a letter of appointment dated 28 July 2006, Mrs Chikane accepted her appointment as a non-executive director for an 
initial term of two years.  Mrs Chikane is entitled to receive director fees of GBP24,000 (gross) per annum, subject to review 
by the Board from time to time.  The appointment may be terminated for various causes of a standard nature.  Upon 
termination, no benefits are due. 

Geoffrey White 

By a letter of appointment dated 1 July 2007, Mr White accepted his appointment as a non-executive director for an initial 
term of two years.  Mr White is entitled to receive director fees of GBP24,000 (gross) per annum, subject to review by the 
Board from time to time.  The appointment may be terminated for various causes of a standard nature.  Upon termination, no 
benefits are due. 

Other than the directors, no other person is concerned in, or takes part in, the management of the Company and Group, or 
has the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Company or the Group.  As 
such, during the financial year, the Company did not have any person, other than directors, that would meet the definition of 
“Key Management Personnel” for the purposes of AASB124 Company Executive or Relevant Group Executive for the 
purposes of section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001 (“Act”). 
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12. Remuneration report – audited (continued) 

12.2 Directors' and executives' remuneration (Company and Consolidated) 

Details of the nature and amount of each major element of remuneration of each director of the Company and Group are: 

Directors 
(in A$ unless noted)  

Short-term 
Post-

employment 
Other long 

term 
Termination 

Benefits  
(B) 

Share-
based 

payments 

Total 

Proportion of 
remuneration 
performance 

related 
% 

Value of 
options as 

proportion of 
remuneration 

% 
Salary & 

fees 

STI 
cash 

bonus 

Non- 
monetary 
benefits Total 

Super-
annuation 
benefits  Options (A) 

Non-executive directors             

Mr D Lenigas, Chairman 2010 63,717 - - 63,717 - - - 20,000 83,717 - 24% 

2009 72,282 - - 72,282 - - - - 72,282 - - 

Mrs K Chikane 

 

2010 46,340 - - 46,340 - - - - 46,340 - - 

2009 52,741 - - 52,741 - - - 37,512 90,253 - 42% 

Mr G White 

 

2010 46,340 - - 46,340 - - - - 46,340 - - 

2009 52,569 - - 52,569 - - - 37,512 90,081 - 42% 

Executive directors             

Mr M Kennedy, Chief Executive Officer 
(Appointed 12 September 2008) 

2010 13,200 - - 13,200 86,800 - - - 100,000 - - 

2009 40,774 - 

 

- 40,774 3,670 - - 37,512 81,956 - 46% 

Mr David Jones  
(Appointed 26 February 2010) 

2010 - - - - - - - - - - - 

2009 - - - - - - - - - - - 

            Former directors             

Mr J Firth (appointed 12 September 
2008, resigned 28 April 2009) 

 

2010 58,133 - - 58,133 - - - - 58,133 - - 

2009 160,040 - - 160,040 - - - 37,512 197,552 - 19% 

Mr M Fitzgerald  
(appointed 16 October 2008, resigned 
26 February 2010) 

 

2010 100,000 - - 100,000 - - - - 100,000 - - 

2009 37,500 - - 37,500 - - - 37,512 75,012 - 50% 

Mr C Mostert , CEO  
(resigned 12 September 2008) 
 

2010 - - - - - - - - - - - 

2009 160,000 - - 160,000 - - 116,071 - 276,071 - - 

Mr B V Deventer, Finance Director 
(resigned 12 September 2008) 

 

2010 - - - - - - - - - - - 

2009 113,372 - - 113,372 - - - - 113,372 - - 

Mr W Burbury  
(resigned 30 July 2008) 

 

2010 - - - - - - - - - - - 

2009 75,000 - - 75,000 - - - - 75,000 - - 
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12. Remuneration report – audited (continued) 

12.2 Directors' and executives' remuneration (Company and Consolidated) (continued) 

Notes in relation to the table of directors’ and executive officers’ remuneration 

(A) The fair value of the options are calculated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option valuation model or 
direct method and allocated to each reporting period evenly over the period from grant date to vesting date.  The 
value disclosed is the portion of the fair value of the options allocated to this reporting period. 

(B) Termination benefits due and paid to Mr Mostert relate to entitlements as provided for within his employment 
contract.  

12.3 Equity instruments 

All options refer to options over ordinary shares of Lonrho Mining Limited, which are exercisable on a one-for-one basis. 

12.3.1 Options over equity instruments granted as compensation 

Details of options over ordinary shares in the Company that were granted as compensation to each key management person 
during the reporting period and details on options that vested during the reporting period are as follows: 

 
 
Director 

Number of  
options granted 

during 2009 

 
 

Grant date 

Fair value of  
option at  

grant date ($) 

Exercise price 
per option 

($) 

 
 

Expiry date 

Number of 
options vested 

during 2010 

D Lenigas 4,000,000 30 Jul 2009 0.005 0.15 30 Jun 2012 4,000,000 

No options have been granted since the end of the financial year.  The options were provided at no cost to the recipients.  
The options were granted on 6 August 2009 following shareholder approval in general meeting on 30 July 2009.  The 
options do not have attaching vesting conditions and each option is convertible to one fully paid ordinary share.  There are 
no voting or dividend rights attached to the options.  Voting rights will be attached to the ordinary issued shares when the 
options have been exercised. 

No terms of equity-settled share-based payment transactions (including options granted as compensation to a key 
management person) have been altered or modified by the Company during the reporting period or prior period. 

No options over unissued ordinary shares in the Company, previously issued as compensation to key management persons, 
were exercised or forfeited during the financial year. 

12.3.2 Analysis of movements in options 

The movement during the reporting period, by value, of options over ordinary shares in the Company held by each key 
management person are detailed below. 

 
 
Director 

 
Granted in year 

$ (A) 

Value of Options 
exercised in year  

$ 

 
Lapsed in year 

$ 

D Lenigas 20,000 - - 

Notes in relation to the table of analysis of option movements 

(A) The value of options granted is measured using the direct method, which represents their market trading price on the date of 
grant. 

13. Indemnification and insurance of officers and auditors 

The Company has entered into deeds of indemnity, insurance and access (“Deeds”) with each of its directors.  Under these 
Deeds, the Company indemnifies each director or officer to the maximum extent permitted by the Corporations Act 2001 
from liability to third parties (unless the liability arises out of conduct involving lack of good faith), and in successfully 
defending legal and administrative proceedings and applications for such proceedings.  The Company must use its best 
endeavours to insure a director or officer against any liability, which does not arise out of conduct constituting a wilful breach 
of duty or a contravention of the Corporations Act 2001.  The Company must also use its best endeavour to insure that a 
director or officer against liability for costs and expenses incurred in defending proceedings whether civil or criminal. 

The Company has during and since the end of the twelve month period, in respect of any person who is an officer of the 
Company or a related body corporate, paid a premium in respect of Directors and Officer liability insurance which 
indemnifies directors, officers and the Company of any claims made against the directors, officers of the Company and the 
Company, except where the liability arises out of conduct involving a lack of good faith and subject to conditions contained in 
the insurance policy.  The directors have not included details of the premium paid in respect of the directors’ and officers’ 
liability and legal expenses’ insurance contracts, as such disclosure is prohibited under the terms of the contract. 

The Company has not entered into any agreement to indemnify the auditors against any claims by third parties arising from 
their report on the Financial Report for the twelve months ended 28 February 2009 and 28 February 2010.  

14. Non-audit services 

During the year Somes & Cooke, the Company’s auditors, has performed certain other services in addition to their statutory 
audit.  The directors are satisfied that the provision of those non-audit services during the year by the auditor is compatible 
with, and did not compromise, the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 for the following reason. 
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 The non-audit services provided do not undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out 
in APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants, as they did not involve reviewing or auditing the auditor’s 
own work, acting in a management or decision making capacity for the Company, acting as an advocate for the 
Company or jointly sharing risks and rewards. 

Details of the amounts paid to the current auditor of the Company, Somes & Cooke, and the previous auditors of the 
Company PKF, and their related practices for audit and non-audit services provided during the year are set out below. 

Consolidated - in AUD 2010 2009 

Audit services:   

Audit and review of financial reports (Somes & Cooke) 34,000 - 

Audit and review of financial reports (PKF Australia) - 81,695 

Audit and review of financial reports (Overseas PKF firms) - 38,153 

 34,000 119,848 

Consolidated - in AUD   

Services other than statutory audit:   

Other assurance services   

Due diligence services (Overseas PKF firms) - 195,483 

Other services   

Taxation compliance services (PKF Australia) - 14,340 

 - 209,823 

15. Auditor’s independence declaration 

The Lead auditor’s independence declaration is set out on the following page forms part of the directors’ report for financial 
year ended 28 February 2010. 

 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors, on behalf of the directors 

 

 
MILES A KENNEDY 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER  
Dated at West Perth this 31st day of May 2010 
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Auditors Independence Declaration 

As lead auditor for the audit of Lonrho Mining Limited for the year ended 28 February 2010, I declare 
under Section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001, that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there 
have been: 

• no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in 
relation to the review; and 

• no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the review. 

 

Somes and Cooke  
Chartered Accountants 

 

 
K C Somes  
Partner 

West Perth 
Date: 31 May 2010 
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 Consolidated Company 

In AUD Note 2010 2009 2010 2009 

Continuing operations      

Settlement of historical claim 19 (70,323) - (70,323) - 

Settlement of leases  (237,643) - (237,643) - 

Consulting expenses  (226,892) (457,596) (226,892) (457,596) 

Depreciation  (1,019) (9,035) (1,019) (9,035) 

Exploration and mining expenses  - (8,355) - (8,355) 

Foreign exchange gain (loss)  (1,483,314) 2,769,766 (1,483,314) 2,769,766 

Impairment loss on subsidiary loan – operation in 
liquidation 6 - - - (12,155,811) 

Employee benefits expenses 7 (434,197) (911,539) (434,197) (911,539) 

Other expenses 8 (412,008) (651,649) (412,008) (651,649) 

Results from operating activities  (2,865,396) 731,592 (2,865,396) (11,424,219) 

Finance income  20,962 41,578 20,962 41,578 

Finance expenses  - (1,738) - (1,738) 

Net finance income 9 20,962 39,840 20,962 39,840 

Profit (loss) before income tax  (2,844,434) 771,432 (2,844,434) (11,384,379) 

Income tax benefit (expense) 11 - - - - 

Profit (loss) from continuing operations  (2,844,434) 771,432 (2,844,434) (11,384,379) 

Discontinued operation      

Loss from operation placed into liquidation 
(net of income tax) 

6 - (14,938,400) - - 

Loss for the period attributable to owners of 
the company  (2,844,434) (14,166,968) (2,844,434) (11,384,379) 

Other comprehensive income      

Derecognition of other financial liabilities 17 3,578,322 - 3,578,322 - 

Foreign currency translation differences  - (920,054) - - 

Loss of control over controlled entities  - (64) - - 

Income tax on other comprehensive income  - - - - 

Other comprehensive income for the period 
net of income tax  3,578,322 (920,118) 3,578,322 - 

Total comprehensive income for the period 
attributable to owners of the company  733,888 (15,087,086) 733,888 (11,384,379) 

Earnings / (Loss) per share      

Basic (loss) per share (cents) 12 (0.79) (9.74)   

Diluted (loss) per share (cents) 12 (0.79) (9.74)   

Continuing operations      

Basic earnings / (loss) per share (cents) 12 (0.79) 0.53   

Diluted earnings / (loss) per share (cents) 12 (0.79) 0.53   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The statements of comprehensive income are to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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 Consolidated Company 

In AUD Note 2010 2009 2010 2009 

Assets      

Cash and cash equivalents 22a 1,171,666 231,242 823,358 148,188 

Trade and other receivables 13 1,583,347 2,557,302 1,583,347 2,542,035 

Prepayments for current assets  - 8,674 - 8,674 

Total current assets  2,755,013 2,797,218 2,406,705 2,698,897 

Other receivables 13 3,087,796 1,881,632 5,146,435 3,136,054 

Mining and deferred exploration assets 14 1,736,470 1,147,973 - - 

Property, plant and equipment  56,216 72,152 4,358 - 

Total non-current assets  4,880,482 3,101,757 5,150,793 3,136,054 

Total assets  7,635,495 5,898,975 7,557,498 5,834,951 

Liabilities      

Trade and other payables 15 322,107 1,279,521 244,110 1,215,498 

Total current liabilities  322,107 1,279,521 244,110 1,215,498 

Loans and borrowings 16 - - - - 

Other financial liabilities 17 - 3,578,322 - 3,578,322 

Provisions 18 - - - - 

Total non-current liabilities  - 3,578,322 - 3,578,322 

Total liabilities  322,107 4,857,843 244,110 4,793,820 

Net assets  7,313,388 1,041,132 7,313,388 1,041,131 

Equity      

Share capital 19 38,498,650 32,982,034 38,498,650 32,982,034 

Preference shares 20 3,927,294 3,927,294 - - 

Reserves 19 6,285,224 3,500,472 6,285,224 3,500,472 

Accumulated losses  (41,397,780) (39,368,668) (37,470,487) (35,441,375) 

Total equity attributable to equity holders of 
the Company  7,313,388 1,041,132 7,313,388 1,041,131 

Non-controlling interest  - - - - 

Total equity  7,313,388 1,041,132 7,313,388 1,041,131 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The statements of financial position are to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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 Attributable to owners of the company 

Non-
controlling 

interest 

 
Total   
equity 

In AUD 
Share 
capital 

Preference 
shares 

Reserves 
 

Accumulated 
losses 

 
Total 

  

Consolidated        

        

Opening balance at 29 Feb 2008 30,727,457 3,927,294 3,672,148 (25,201,700) 13,125,199 64 13,125,263 

Total comprehensive income for the 
period        

Loss for the period - - - (14,166,968) (14,166,968) - (14,166,968) 

Other comprehensive income        

Foreign currency translation differences - - (920,054) - (920,054) - (920,054) 

Loss of control over controlled entities - - - - - (64) (64) 

Total other comprehensive income - - (920,054) - (920,054) (64) (920,118) 

Total comprehensive income for the 
period - - (920,054) (14,166,968) (15,087,022) (64) (15,087,086) 

Transactions with owners, recorded 
directly in equity        

Issue of share capital 2,891,399 - - - 2,891,399 - 2,891,399 

Share issue expenses (636,822) - - - (636,822) - (636,822) 

Issue of options - - 185,962 - 185,962 - 185,962 

Share based payments - - 562,416 - 562,416 - 562,416 

Total transactions with owners 2,254,577 - 748,378 - 3,002,955 - 3,002,955 

Balance at 28 Feb 2009 32,982,034 3,927,294 3,500,472 (39,368,668) 1,041,132 - 1,041,132 

Total comprehensive income for the 
period        

Loss for the period - - - (2,844,434) (2,844,434) - (2,844,434) 

Other comprehensive income - - - (2,844,434) (2,844,434) - (2,844,434) 

Derecognition of other financial liabilities  - - 2,763,000 815,322 3,578,322 - 3,578,322 

Total other comprehensive income - - 2,763,000 815,322 3,578,322 - 3,578,322 

Total comprehensive income for the 
period - - 2,763,000 (2,029,112) 733,888 - 733,888 

Transactions with owners, recorded 
directly in equity        

Issue of share capital 5,895,459 - - - 5,895,459 - 5,895,459 

Share issue expenses (378,843) - - - (378,843) - (378,843) 

Share based payments - - 21,752 - 21,752 - 21,752 

Total transactions with owners 5,516,616 - 21,752 - 5,538,368 - 5,538,368 

Closing balance at 28 Feb 2010 38,498,650 3,927,294 6,285,224 (41,397,780) 7,313,388 - 7,313,388 

 
 
 
 

       

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The statements in changes in equity are to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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 Attributable to owners of the company 

In AUD 
Share 
capital 

Preference 
shares 

Reserves 
 

Accumulated 
losses 

 
Total 

Company      

Opening balance at 29 Feb 2008 30,727,457 - 2,752,094 (24,056,996) 9,422,555 

Total comprehensive income for the period      

Loss for the period - - - (11,384,379) (11,384,379) 

Other comprehensive income - - - - - 

Total comprehensive income for the period - - - (11,384,379) (11,384,379) 

Transactions with owners, recorded directly 
in equity      

Issue of share capital 2,891,399 - - - 2,891,399 

Issue of share capital (636,822) - - - (636,822) 

Share issue expenses - - 185,962 - 185,962 

Share based payments - - 562,416 - 562,416 

Total transactions with owners 2,254,577 - 748,378 - 3,002,955 

Balance at 28 Feb 2009  32,982,034 - 3,500,472 (35,441,375) 1,041,131 

Total comprehensive income for the period      

Loss for the period - - - (2,844,434) (2,844,434) 

Other comprehensive income      

Derecognition of other financial liabilities  - - 2,763,000 815,322 3,578,322 

Total comprehensive income for the period - - 2,763,000 (2,029,112) 733,888 

Transactions with owners, recorded directly 
in equity      

Issue of share capital 5,895,459 - - - 5,895,459 

Share issue expenses (378,843) - - - (378,843) 

Share based payments - - 21,752 - 21,752 

Total transactions with owners 5,516,616 - 21,752 - 5,538,368 

Closing balance at 28 Feb 2010 38,498,650 - 6,285,224 (37,470,487) 7,313,388 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The statements in changes in equity are to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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 Consolidated Company 

In AUD Note 2010 2009 2010 2009 

Cash flows from operating activities      

Cash paid to suppliers and employees  (1,896,514) (1,567,557) (2,010,552) (1,280,893) 

Interest and other costs of finance paid  (237,643) (490,780) (237,643) (1,738) 

Net cash from (used in) operating activities 22b (2,134,157) (2,058,337) (2,248,195) (1,282,631) 

      

Cash flows from investing activities      

Interest received  20,962 60,402 20,962 41,578 

Payments for mining activities and exploration 
assets  (588,497) (2,490,156) - (8,355) 

Purchases of property, plant and equipment  (51,858) (152,409) (5,379) (14,340) 

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and 
equipment  - 30,315 - - 

Proceeds from disposal of investments  - 571,216 - - 

Contribution to Joint venture operations  (1,206,164) (1,477,397) (1,703,590) (2,731,819) 

Cash and cash equivalents in operation placed 
into liquidation 6 - (17,139) - - 

Net cash from (used in) investing activities  (1,825,557) (3,475,168) (1,688,007) (2,712,936) 

      

Cash flows from financing activities      

Proceeds from issue of share capital 19 4,940,795 2,461,399 4,940,795 2,461,399 

Proceeds from issue of options  - 185,962 - 185,962 

Share issue costs  (181,636) (261,966) (181,636) (261,966) 

Proceeds from related party loan  140,979 977,908 140,979 977,908 

Repayment of interest bearing liabilities  - (486,669) - - 

Amounts advanced to related parties 27 - - (288,766) (1,575,552) 

Net cash from (used in) financing activities  4,900,138 2,876,634 4,611,372 1,787,751 

      

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash 
equivalents  940,424 (2,656,871) 675,170 (2,207,816) 

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 Mar  231,242 2,846,158 148,188 2,356,004 

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held  - 41,954 - - 

Cash and cash equivalents at 28 Feb 22a 1,171,666 231,242 823,358 148,188 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
The statements in cash flows are to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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1. Reporting entity 
Lonrho Mining Limited (the ‘Company’) is a company domiciled and incorporated in Australia.  The address of the 
Company’s registered office is 12 Walker Avenue, West Perth WA 6005.  The consolidated financial statements of the 
Company as at and for the year ended 28 February 2010 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as 
the ‘Group’ and individually as ‘Group entities’) and the Group’s interest in associates and jointly controlled entities.  The 
Group is primarily involved in the exploration, development and commercialisation of diamond projects in Africa, specifically 
Angola. 

2. Basis of preparation 
(a) Statement of compliance 

The financial report is a general purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards (AASBs) (including Australian Interpretations) adopted by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) 
and the Corporations Act 2001.  The consolidated financial report of the Group and the financial report of the Company 
comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and interpretations adopted by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (IASB). 

The consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 31 May 2010. 

(b) Basis of measurement 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for equity settled share-based 
payments.  The methods used to determine fair values of equity settled share-based payments are discussed further in note 
4. 

(c) Functional and presentation currency 

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian Dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency.  
The functional currency of the Lulo Diamond Concession joint venture operation is US Dollars (USD). 

(d) Use of estimates and judgements 

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect 
the application of accounting policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.  Actual results may 
differ from those estimates.  Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected. 

Judgements made by management in the application of Australian Accounting Standards that have significant effect on the 
financial statements and estimates with a significant risk of material adjustment in the next year are discussed in note 4(t). 

(e) Changes in accounting policies 

Starting as of 1 March 2009, the Group has changed its accounting policies in the following areas: 

• Accounting for business combinations 
• Accounting for acquisitions of non-controlling interests 
• Determination and presentation of operating segments 
• Presentation of financial statements 

3. Financial position 
For the year ended 28 February 2010 the consolidated entity recorded a loss of $2,844,434 and had a net working capital 
surplus of $2,432,906.  The Company recorded a loss of $2,844,434 and had a net working capital surplus of $2,162,595.   

The ability of the consolidated entity and parent entity to continue as a going concern is principally dependent upon: 

• continued shareholder support and funding, particularly from major shareholder Lonrho Plc, for the Lulo exploration 
program, most likely through loan funds, further entitlements issues or share placements, and 

• recovery of the receivable due to the Company from Endiama in Angola following the agreed Lulo exploration 
program and DMS Plant commissioning. 

Following the appointment of liquidators to the Group’s South African mining entities, the Group focused on its Angolan 
diamond exploration interests in the Lulo Project.  This project requires ongoing exploration work and funding.  The 
Group’s cash flow projections indicate that further funding will be required within 12 months of balance date and the 
Company is currently discussing these funding requirements with its key shareholders. 

Lonrho Plc is the largest shareholder of the company and has followed its rights in the entitlements issues completed 
during the period, as well as advancing loan funds required by the Group operations.   

Included in the net working capital surplus of the consolidated entity is $1,562,674 (US$1,400,000), which is refundable to 
the consolidated entity by Endiama in Angola within 30 days following successful commissioning of the DMS plant, 
expected around the end of July 2010. 

The Company has 405,949,388 unissued ordinary shares under option at the date of this report exercisable at $0.01 per 
share prior to 18 November 2010.  These options are currently in the money, and should they be exercised would result in 
proceeds to the Company of $4,059,494. 



Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the year ended 28 February 2010 
 

18 | P a g e    LONRHO MINING LIMITED ABN 44 111 501 663 

The directors have prepared cash flow forecasts that indicate the consolidated entity and parent entity will have sufficient 
cash to meet all contractual commitments for the 12 months ending 31 May 2011. 

Based on the cash flow forecasts, the directors are satisfied that the going concern basis of preparation is appropriate.  
The financial report has therefore been prepared on a going concern basis, which assumes continuity of normal business 
activities and the realisation of assets and the settlement of liabilities in the ordinary course of business. 

Should the consolidated entity and parent entity be unable to continue as a going concern, they may be required to realise 
their assets and extinguish their liabilities other than in the ordinary course of business, and at amounts that differ from 
those stated in the financial statements. 

4. Significant accounting policies 
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these consolidated financial 
statements, and have been applied consistently by Group entities. 

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to conform with the current year’s presentation.  In addition, the 
comparative statement of comprehensive income has been re-presented. 

(a) Basis of consolidation 

 Business combinations - Change in accounting policy 

 The Group has adopted revised AASB 3 Business Combinations (2008) and amended AASB 127 Consolidated and 
Separate Financial Statements (2008) for business combinations occurring in the financial year starting 1 March 2009.  All 
business combinations occurring on or after 1 March 2009 are accounted for by applying the acquisition method.  The 
change in accounting policy is applied prospectively and had no material impact on earnings (loss) per share. 

 For every business combination, the Group identifies the acquirer, which is the combining entity that obtains control of the 
other combining entities or businesses.  Control is the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as 
to obtain benefits from its activities.  In assessing control, the Group takes into consideration potential voting rights that 
currently are exercisable.  The acquisition date is the date on which control is transferred to the acquirer.  Judgement is 
applied in determining the acquisition date and determining whether control is transferred from one party to another. 

 Measuring goodwill 

 The Group measures goodwill as the fair value of the consideration transferred including the recognised amount of any non-
controlling interest in the acquire, less the net recognised amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable assets acquired 
and liabilities assumed, all measured as of the acquisition date. 

 Consideration transferred includes the fair values of the assets transferred, liabilities incurred by the Group to the previous 
owners of the acquiree, and equity interests issued by the Group.  Consideration transferred also includes the fair value of 
any contingent consideration and share-based payment awards of the acquire that are replaced mandatorily in the business 
combination.  If a business combination results in the termination of pre-existing relationships between the Group and the 
acquire, then the lower of the termination amount, as contained in the agreement, and the value of the off-market element is 
deducted from the consideration transferred and recognised in other expenses. 

 Share-based payment awards 

 When share-based payment awards exchanged (replacement awards) for awards held by the acquiree’s employees 
(acquiree’s awards) relate to past services, then a part of the market-based measure of the awards replaced is included in 
the consideration transferred.  If they require future services, then the difference between the amount included in 
consideration transferred and the market-based measure of the replacement awards is treated as post-combination 
compensation cost. 

 Contingent liabilities 

 A contingent liability of the acquire is assumed in a business combination only if such a liability represents a present 
obligation and arises from a past event, and its fair value can be measured reliably. 

 Non-controlling interest 

 The Group measures any non-controlling interest at its proportionate interest in the identifiable net assets of the acquire. 

 Transaction costs 

 Transaction costs that the Group incurs in connection with a business combination, such as finder’s fees, legal fees, due 
diligence fees, and other professional and consulting fees, are expensed as incurred. 

 Accounting for acquisitions of non-controlling interests 

 The Group has adopted AASB 3 Business Combinations (2008) and AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements (2008) for acquisitions of non-controlling interests occurring in the financial year starting 1 March 2009.  Under 
the new accounting policy, acquisitions of non-controlling interests are accounted for as transactions with equity holders in 
their capacity as equity holders and therefore no goodwill is recognised as a result of such transactions.  Previously, goodwill 
was recognised arising on the acquisition of a non-controlling interest in a subsidiary; and that represented the excess of the 
cost of the additional investment over the carrying amount of the interest in the net assets acquired at the date of exchange.  
The change in accounting policy was applied prospectively and had no material impact on earnings per share. 
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 Subsidiaries 

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group.  Control exists when the Group has the power, directly or indirectly, to 
govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.  In assessing control, 
potential voting rights that presently are exercisable or convertible are taken into account.  The financial statements of 
subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that 
control ceases.  The accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed when necessary to align them with the policies 
adopted by the Group. 

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group.  The cost of an 
acquisition is measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued liabilities incurred or assumed at the 
date of exchange, plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition.  Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent 
liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date, irrespective of 
the extent of any minority interest.   

The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable net assets acquired is 
recorded as goodwill.  If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the 
difference is recognised directly in the income statement. 

In the Company’s financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost. 

 Jointly controlled operations and assets 

 The interest of the Group in unincorporated joint ventures and jointly controlled assets are brought to account by recognising 
in its financial statements the assets it controls, the liabilities that it incurs, the expenses it incurs and its share of income that 
it earns from the sale of goods or services by the joint venture. 

 Transactions eliminated on consolidation 

Intra-group balances and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group transactions, are eliminated in 
preparing the consolidated financial statements.  Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but 
only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment. 

(b) Foreign currency 

Foreign currency transactions and balances 
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of Group entities at exchange rates 
ruling at the dates of the transactions.  Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting 
date are retranslated to the functional currency at the foreign exchange rate ruling at that date.  Foreign exchange 
differences arising on retranslation are recognised in the income statement. 

Foreign operations 
The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on acquisition, are 
translated to Australian dollars at foreign exchange rates ruling at the reporting date.  The income and expenses of foreign 
operations are translated to Australian dollars at exchange rates approximating the foreign exchange rates ruling at the 
dates of the transactions.  Foreign exchange differences arising on retranslation are recognised directly in a separate 
component of equity (foreign currency translation reserve, “FCTR”).   

When a foreign operation is disposed of in part or in full, the relevant amount in the FCTR is transferred to the income 
statement.   

Foreign exchange gains and losses arising from a monetary item receivable from or payable to a foreign operation, the 
settlement of which is neither  planned nor likely in the foreseeable future, are considered to form part of the net investment 
in a foreign operation and are recognised directly in equity. 

(c) Financial instruments 

 Non-derivative financial instruments 

Non-derivative financial instruments comprise trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, loans and 
borrowings, and trade and other payables. 

Non-derivative financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value plus, for instruments not at fair value through profit 
or loss, any directly attributable transaction costs.  Subsequent to initial recognition non-derivative financial instruments are 
measured as described below.  

A financial instrument is recognised if the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial 
assets are derecognised if the Group’s contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial assets expire or if the Group 
transfers the financial asset to another party without retaining control or substantially all risks and rewards of the asset. 
Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are accounted for at trade date, i.e., the date that the Group commits 
itself to purchase or sell the asset.  Financial liabilities are derecognised if the Group’s obligations specified in the contract 
expire or are discharged or cancelled. 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits.  Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and 
form an integral part of the Group’s cash management are included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the 
purpose of the statement of cash flows.  

Accounting for finance income and expense is discussed in note 4(l). 
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Other non-derivative financial instruments are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any 
impairment losses. 

 Share capital 

Equity instruments, including preference shares, issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received.  
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of equity instruments are recognised as a deduction from equity, net of 
any tax effects. 

(d) Property, plant and equipment 
 Recognition and measurement 

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 
losses. 

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset.  The cost of self-constructed assets 
includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to a working 
condition for its intended use, and the costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they are 
located. 

When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items 
(major components) of property, plant and equipment. 

Borrowing costs related to the acquisition or construction of qualifying assets are recognised in the Income Statement as 
incurred. 

Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds from 
disposal with the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment and are recognised net within “other income” in the 
Income Statement. 

 Subsequent costs 

The cost of replacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of an item if it is 
probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be 
measured reliably.  The carrying amount of the replaces part is derecognised.  All other costs are recognised in the income 
statement as an expense incurred. 

 Depreciation 

Depreciation is recognised in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each part of an 
item of property, plant and equipment. 

The estimated useful lives in the current and comparative periods are as follows: 

Plant and machinery 10 years 
Earth moving equipment 10 years 
Field equipment 3 years 
Motor vehicles 5 years 
Computer equipment 3 years 
Office equipment 5-10 years 
Office furniture and fittings 10 years  

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date. 

(e) Mining and deferred exploration assets 

Mining assets comprise exploration costs, mining plant and equipment and mineral properties.  Exploration costs on mineral 
exploration prospects are accumulated separately for each area of interest (an individual geological area which is 
considered to constitute a favourable environment for the presence of a mineral deposit or has been proven to contain such 
a deposit) and are carried forward on the following basis: 

(i) Each area of interest is considered separately when deciding whether and to what extent to carry forward or write-off 
exploration costs. 

(ii) Rights to prospect in the area of interest are current, provided that such costs are expected to be recouped through 
successful development and exploitation of the area of interest or alternatively, by its sale. 

(iii) The carrying values of mineral exploration prospects are reviewed by directors where results of exploration of an area 
of interest are sufficiently advanced to permit a reasonable estimate of the costs expected to be recouped through 
successful developments and exploitation of the area of interest or by its sale.  Expenditure in excess of this estimate 
is written-off to the income statement in the period in which the review occurs. 

(iv) At each reporting date, management assesses whether there is any indication that exploration and evaluation 
expenditure carried forward may be impaired.  If any such impairment exists, the carrying amount is written-down to 
the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use in accordance with AASB136 Impairment of Assets. 

(v) In respect of the areas of interest, the amount carried forward is not amortised until production commences. 
Exploration costs are capitalised until such time as that specific mining area reaches commercial production.  
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Revenue earned from the discovery of diamonds during the exploration phase is offset against the capitalised exploration 
costs. 

(f) Inventories 

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  The cost of inventories is based on the first-in first-
out principle, and includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories, production or conversion costs and other costs 
incurred in bringing them to their existing location and condition. 

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of completion 
and selling expenses. 

(g) Impairment 

Financial assets 

A financial asset is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any objective evidence that it is impaired.  
A financial asset is considered to be impaired if objective evidence indicates that one or more events have had a negative 
effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset. 

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the difference between its 
carrying amount, and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate.   

Individually significant financial assets are tested for impairment on an individual basis.  The remaining financial assets are 
assessed collectively in groups that share similar credit risk characteristics. 

All impairment losses are recognised in the income statement. 

 An impairment loss is reversed if the reversal can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was 
recognised.  For financial assets measured at amortised cost the reversal is recognised in the income statement. 

Non-financial assets 

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, other than inventories (see accounting policy e) and deferred tax 
assets (see accounting policy m), are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of 
impairment.  If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. 

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to 
sell.  In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.  For the 
purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows 
from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets (the “cash-
generating unit”). 

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable 
amount.  Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement.  Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-
generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to cash-generating units (group of 
units) and then, to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit (group of units) on a pro rata basis. 

Impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has 
decreased or no longer exists.  An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to 
determine the recoverable amount.  An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount dies 
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss 
had been recognised. 

(h) Employee benefits 

 Defined contribution plans 

 A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions into a separate 
entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts.  Obligations for contributions to defined 
contribution superannuation funds are recognised as an expense in the income statement as incurred. 

 Short-term employee benefits 

Liabilities for employee benefits for wages, salaries and annual leave that are expected to be settled within 12 months of the 
reporting date represent present obligations resulting from employees’ services provided to reporting date and are calculated 
at undiscounted amounts based on remuneration wage and salary rates that the Group expects to pay as at reporting date 
including related on-costs, such as workers compensation insurance and payroll tax. 

 Long-term employee benefits 

 The Group’s net obligation in respect of long-term employee benefits is the amount of future benefit that employees have 
earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods plus related on-costs: that benefit is discounted to determine 
its present value, and the fair value of any related assets is deducted.  The discount rate is the yield at the reporting date on 
government bonds that have maturity dates approximating the terms of the Group’s obligations. 
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 Termination benefits 

 Termination benefits are recognised as an expense when the Group is demonstrably committed, without realistic possibility 
of withdrawal, to a formal detailed plan to either terminate employment before the normal retirement date, or to provide 
termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. 

 Share-based payment transactions 

 The fair value of options granted is recognised as an expense with a corresponding increase in equity.  The fair value is 
measured at grant date and spread over the period during which the employees become unconditionally entitled to the 
options.  The fair value of the options granted is measured using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, taking into account 
the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted.  The amount recognised is adjusted to reflect the actual 
number of share options that vest except where forfeiture is only due to market conditions not being met. 

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not 
been modified. In addition, an expense is recognised for any increase in the value of the transaction as a result of the 
modification, as measured at the date of modification. 

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not 
yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately. However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award, and 
designated as a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new award are treated as if they were a 
modification of the original award, as described in the previous paragraph. 

(i) Provisions 

 A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation that can be 
estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation.  Provisions 
are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of 
the time value of money and, when appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. 

 Site restoration 

In accordance with the Group’s environmental policy and applicable legal requirements, a provision for site restoration in 
respect of disturbed land is recognised when the land is disturbed. 

The provision is the best estimate of the present value of the expenditure required to settle the restoration obligation at the 
reporting date, based on current legal requirements and technology.  Future restoration costs are reviewed annually and any 
changes are reflected in the present value of the restoration provision at the end of the reporting period. 

The amount of the provision for future restoration costs is capitalised and depreciated in accordance with the policy set out 
in note 4(d).  The unwinding of the effect of discounting on the provision is recognised as a finance cost. 

(j) Revenue 

Goods sold 

Revenue from the sale of goods is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, net of returns and 
allowances.  Revenue is recognised in the income statement when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been 
transferred to the buyer.  No revenue is recognised if there are significant uncertainties regarding recovery of the 
consideration due or there is a risk of return of goods or there is continuing management involvement with the goods. 

Provision of services 

Revenue from services rendered is recognised in the income statement in proportion to the stage of completion of the 
transaction at the reporting date. 

Sale of non-current assets 

The net gain/(loss) on the sale of non-current assets is included as revenue or expense at the date control of the assets 
passes to the buyer.  The gain or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between the carrying amount of the asset 
at the time of disposal and the net proceeds on disposal (including incidental costs). 

(k) Leases 

 Leases in terms of which the Group assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance 
leases.  Upon initial recognition the leased asset is measured at an amount equal to the lower of its fair value and the 
present value of the minimum lease payments.  Subsequent to the initial recognition, the asset is accounted for in 
accordance with the accounting policy applicable to that asset.   

 Other leases are operating leases and the leased assets are not recognised in the Group’s balance sheet.   

 Payments made under operating leases are recognised in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the term of the 
lease. 

 Minimum lease payments made under finance leases are apportioned between the finance expense and the reduction of the 
outstanding liability.  The finance expense is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to produce a constant 
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.  

(l) Finance income and expenses 

Finance income and expenses comprises interest income on funds invested, interest expense on borrowings calculated 
using the effective interest method and unwinding of discounts on provisions. 
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Interest income is recognised in the income statement as it accrues, using the effective interest method.  All borrowing costs 
are recognised in the income statement using the effective interest method. 

(m) Income tax 
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.  The tax currently payable is based on 
taxable profit (loss) for the year.  Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the income statement because it 
excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are 
never taxable or deductible.  The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the balance sheet date. 

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amount of assets and 
liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is 
accounted for using the balance sheet liability method.  Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable 
temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be 
available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised.  Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the 
temporary difference arises from goodwill (or negative goodwill) or from the initial recognition (other than in a business 
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the tax profit nor the accounting profit. 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and 
associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference 
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.  

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no 
longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered. 

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset 
realised.  Deferred tax is charged or credited in the income statement, except when it relates to items charged or credited 
directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.  

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the 
Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis. 

(n) Goods and services tax 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST) or value added tax 
(VAT), except where the amount of GST or VAT incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority, it is recognised as 
part of the cost of acquisition of an asset or as part of an item of expense.  Receivables and payables are stated with the 
amount of GST or VAT included. 

The net amount of GST and VAT recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or 
payables. 

Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis.  The GST and VAT component of cash flows 
arising from investing and financing activities which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is classified as 
operating cash flows. 

(o) Operations in liquidation 

 When an operation is classified as an operation placed into liquidation, the comparative income statement is re-presented as 
if the operation had been discontinued from the start of the comparative period. 

(p) Segment reporting 

As of 1 March 2009 the Group determines and presents operating segments based on the information that internally is 
provided to the CEO, who is the Group’s chief operating decision maker.  This change in accounting policy is due to the 
adoption of IFRS 8 Operating Segments.  Previously, operating segments were determined and presented in accordance 
with AASB 114 Segment Reporting.  The new accounting policy in respect of segment operating disclosures is presented as 
follows. 

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and 
incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group’s other components.  All 
operating segments’ operating results are regularly reviewed by the Group’s CEO to make decisions about resources to be 
allocated to the segment and assess its performance, and for which discrete financial information is available. 

The Group engages in business activities within one segment, being the exploration, development and commercialisation of 
diamond projects in Africa.  The Group maintains an administrative office in Western Australia to support and promote the 
exploration activities in Africa, which is presented by the position and results of the company within the financial statements. 

(q) Presentation of financial statements 

The Group applies revised AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements (2007), which became effective as of 1 January 
2009.  As a result, the Group presents in the consolidated statement of changes in equity all owner changes in equity, 
whereas all non-owner changes in equity are presented in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 

Comparative information has been re-presented so that it also is in conformity with the revised standard.  Since the change 
in accounting policy only impacts presentation aspects, there is no impact on earnings per share. 
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(r) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted 

The following standards, amendments to standards and interpretations have been identified as those which may impact the 
entity in the period of initial application. They are available for early adoption at 28 February 2010, but have not been applied 
in preparing this financial report. 

(i) AABS 9 Financial Instruments includes requirements for the classification and measurement of financial assets 
resulting from the first part of Phase 1 of the project to replace AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement. AASB 9 will become mandatory for the Group’s 28 February 2014 financial statements. Retrospective 
application is generally required, although there are exceptions, particularly if the entity adopts the standard for the 
year ended 28 February 2012 or earlier. The Group has not yet determined the potential effect of the standard. 
 

(ii) AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures (revised December 2009) simplifies and clarifies the intended meaning of the 
definition of related party and provide a partial exemption from the disclosure requirements for government-related 
entities. The amendments, which will become mandatory for Group’s 28 February 2012 financial statements, are not 
expected to have any impact on the financial statements. 

 
(iii) AASB 2009-5 Further amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Group Cash- settled Share-based Payment 

Transactions resolves diversity in practice regarding the attribution of cash-settled share-based payments between 
different entities within a group. As a result of the amendments Al 8 Scope of AASB2 and Al 11 AASB 2-Group and 
Treasury Share Transactions will be withdrawn from the application date. The amendments, which become 
mandatory for the Group’s 28 February 2011 financial statements, are not expected to have a significant impact on 
the financial statement.  

 
(iv) AASB 2009-11 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Classification of Rights Issue [AASB 132] 

(October 2010) clarify that rights, options or warrants to acquire a fixed number of entity’s own equity instruments for 
a fixed amount in any currency are equity instruments if the entity offers the rights, options or warrants pro-rata to all 
existing owners of the same class of its own non-derivative equity instruments. The amendments, which will become 
mandatory for the Group’s 28 February 2011 financial statements, are not expected to have any impact on the 
financial statements. 

 
(v) AASB 2009-14 Amendments to the Australian Interpretation – Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement – 

AASB 14 make amendments to Interpretation 14 AASB 119 – The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum 
Funding Requirements removing an unintended consequence arising from the treatment of the prepayments of future 
contributions in some circumstances when there is a minimum funding requirement. The amendments will become 
mandatory for the Group’s 28 February 2012 financial statements, with retrospective application required. The 
amendments are not expected to have any impact on the financial statements. 

 
(vi) IFRIC 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments addresses the accounting by an entity when the 

terms of a financial liability are renegotiated and result  in the entity issuing equity instruments to a creditor of the 
entity to extinguish all of part of the financial liability. IFRIC 19 will become mandatory for the Group’s 28 February 
2011 financial statements, with retrospective application required. The Group has not yet determined the potential 
effect of the interpretation.   

(s) Earnings (loss) per share 

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the net loss attributable to the ordinary shareholders of the Company by the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares of the Company during the period.  Diluted loss per share is determined by 
adjusting the net loss attributable to the ordinary shareholders and the number of shares outstanding for the effects of all 
dilutive potential shares, which comprise share options. 

(t) Accounting estimates and judgements 

Management discusses with the Board the development, selection and disclosure of the Group’s critical accounting policies 
and estimates and the application of these policies and estimates.  The estimates and judgements that have a significant 
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are 
discussed below. 
Classification and valuation of investments 
The Group has decided to classify investments in listed securities as 'available -for-sale' investments and movements in fair 
value are recognised directly in equity.  The fair value of listed shares has been determined by reference to published price 
quotations in an active market. 
Share-based payment transactions 
The Group measures the cost of equity-settled transactions by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments at the 
date at which they are granted.  The fair value of options granted is measured using the Black-Scholes option pricing model 
or direct method, taking into account the terms and conditions as set out within note 21.  The accounting estimates and 
assumptions relating to equity-settled share-based payments would have no impact on the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next annual reporting period but may impact expenses and equity. 
Estimated useful lives of assets 
Estimated useful lives of assets have been based on historical experience.  The condition of the assets is assessed at least 
once per year and considered against the remaining life.  Adjustments to useful lives are made when considered necessary. 
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Site restoration provision 
The Group assesses its site restoration provision at each balance date in accordance with accounting policy 4(i).  Significant 
judgement is required in determining the provision for site restoration as there are many transactions and other factors that 
will affect the ultimate liability payable to rehabilitate and restore the exploration sites and related assets.  Factors that will 
affect this liability include future development, changes in technology, price increases and changes in interest rates.  When 
these factors change or become known in the future, such differences will impact the site restoration provision and asset in 
the period in which they change or become known. 

(u) Determination of fair values 

A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value, for both financial and 
non-financial assets and liabilities.  Fair values have been determined for measurement and / or disclosure purposes based 
on the following methods. Where applicable, information about the assumptions made in determining fair values is disclosed 
in the notes specific to that asset or liability. 
Property, plant and equipment 
The fair value of property, plant and equipment recognised as a result of a business combination is based on market values.  
The market value of property is the estimated amount for which a property could be exchanged on the date of valuation 
between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm’s length transaction after proper marketing wherein the parties had 
each acted knowledgeably, prudently and without compulsion.  The market value of items of plant, equipment and fittings is 
based on the quoted market prices for similar items. 
Inventories 
The fair value of inventories acquired in a business combination is determined based on its estimated selling price in the 
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion and sale, and a reasonable profit margin based on the 
effort required to complete and sell the inventories. 
Trade and other receivables 
The fair value of trade and other receivables is estimated as the present value of future cash flows, discounted at the market 
rate of interest at the reporting date. 

Non derivative financial liabilities 
Fair value, which is determined for disclosure purposes, is calculated based on the present value of future principal and 
interest cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting date. 

Share-based payment transactions 

 The fair value of options issued is measured using the Black-Scholes option pricing formula or direct method.  Measurement 
inputs include share price on measurement date, exercise price of the instrument, expected volatility (based on weighted 
average historic volatility adjusted for changes expected due to publicly available information), weighted average expected 
life of the instruments (based on historical experience and general option holder behaviour), expected dividends, and the 
risk-free interest rate (based on government bonds).  Service and non-market performance conditions attached to the 
transactions are not taken into account in determining fair value.  

5. Segment reporting 

As of 1 March 2009 the Group determines and presents operating segments based on the information that internally is 
provided to the CEO, who is the Group’s chief operating decision maker, which is provided on a Group wide basis.  This 
change in accounting policy is due to the adoption of IFRS 8 Operating Segments.  Previously, operating segments were 
determined and presented in accordance with AASB 114 Segment Reporting.  The new accounting policy in respect of 
segment operating disclosures is presented as follows. 

The Group engages in business activities within one operating segment, being the exploration, development and 
commercialisation of diamond projects in Africa.  The Group maintains an administrative office in Western Australia, to 
support and promote the exploration activities in Africa.  The financial position and performance of the administrative office is 
presented by the ‘Company’ within the financial statements. 

6. Operation in liquidation 

South African operations liquidated 

On 16 January 2009 an application was brought to the High Court of South Africa for the liquidation of Lonrho Mining SA 
(Pty) Ltd (formerly Nare Adamas (South Africa) Pty Ltd) and the High Court issued a provisional liquidation order against 
Lonrho Mining SA. The Provisional Liquidators were appointed on 29 January 2009 and the assets of Lonrho Mining SA, 
including the shares it holds in its wholly and partly owned subsidiaries, were placed under the control of the Provisional 
Liquidators and remained under the control of the Provisional Liquidators until the liquidation process was finalised during 
October 2009.  
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  Consolidated  
In AUD  2010 2009 
Results of operation placed into liquidation    

Other income  - 1,022,051 

Consulting fees  - (96,226) 

Employee benefits expense  - (364,421) 

Exploration and mining expenses  - (38,814) 

Depreciation and amortisation  - (68,900) 

Impairment loss  - (14,800,324) 

Other expenses  - (318,402) 

Results from operating activities  - (14,665,036) 

Finance income  - 18,823 

Finance expenses  - (489,042) 

Net finance income / (expense)  - (470,219) 

Loss before income tax  - (15,135,255) 

Income tax expense  - - 

Loss from operation in liquidation  - (15,135,255) 

Profit on the loss of control over subsidiary  - 196,855 

Loss for the year from operation in liquidation  - (14,938,400) 

    

Loss per share from operation in liquidation    

Basic loss per share (cents)  - (10.27) 

Diluted loss per share (cents)  - (10.27) 

    

Cash flows from operation in liquidation    

Net cash used in operating activities  - (756,882) 

Net cash from investing activities  - (864,109) 

Net cash from financing activities  - (486,669) 

Net cash used in operation under liquidation  - (2,107,660) 

    

Effect of operation placed into liquidation on the financial position of the Group    

Cash and cash equivalents  - 17,139 

Trade and other receivables  - 40,851 

Other non-current receivables  - 967,415 

Mining and deferred exploration assets  - 2,530,495 

Property, plant and equipment  - 7,873,784 

Trade and other payables  - (5,706,862) 

Interest bearing loans & borrowings  - (3,618,887) 

Provisions  - (1,793,286) 

Net assets and liabilities  - 310,549 

7. Employee benefits expenses 
 Consolidated  Company 

In AUD 2010 2009 2010 2009 
Wages, salaries and director remuneration 409,383 604,238 409,383 604,238 

Termination benefits - 116,071 - 116,071 

Superannuation costs 4,814 3,670 4,814 3,670 

Equity settled share-based payment transactions 20,000 187,560 20,000 187,560 

 434,197 911,539 434,197 911,539 
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8. Other expenses 
 Consolidated  Company 

In AUD 2010 2009 2010 2009 
Administrative expenses 285,233 549,778 285,233 549,778 

Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment  - 25,878 - 25,878 

Operating lease rental expense 126,775 75,993 126,775 75,993 

 412,008 651,649 412,008 651,649 

9. Finance income and expense 
 Note Consolidated  Company 

In AUD  2010 2009 2010 2009 
Finance income      

Interest on bank deposits  20,962 60,402 20,962 41,578 

  20,962 60,402 20,962 41,578 

Attributable to:      

Continuing operations  20,962 41,578 20,962 41,578 

Operation in liquidation 6 - 18,824 - - 

  20,962 60,402 20,962 41,578 

      

Finance expense      

Interest on bank deposits  - 1,738 20,962 1,738 

Interest on obligations under finance leases  - 489,042 - - 

  - 490,780 20,962 1,738 

Attributable to:      

Continuing operations  - 1,738 20,962 1,738 

Operation in liquidation 6 - 489,042 - - 

  - 490,780 20,962 1,738 

10. Auditors remuneration 

 Consolidated Company 

In AUD 2010 2009 2010 2009 

Audit services:     

Audit and review of financial reports (Somes & Cooke) 34,000 - 34,000 - 

Audit and review of financial reports (PKF Australia) - 81,695 - 81,695 

Audit and review of financial reports (Overseas PKF firms) - 38,153 - - 

 34,000 119,848 34,000 81,695 

Services other than statutory audit:     

Other assurance services     

Due diligence services (Overseas PKF firms) - 195,483 - 195,483 

Other services     

Taxation compliance services (PKF Australia) - 14,340 - 14,340 

 - 209,823 - 209,823 

Attributable to:     

Continuing operations 34,000 291,518 34,000 291,518 

Operation in liquidation - 38,153 - - 

 34,000 329,671 34,000 291,518 
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11. Income tax (benefit) expense 
 Consolidated Company 

In AUD 2010 2009 2010 2009 
Current tax expense     

Domestic - - - - 

Foreign - - - - 

 - - - - 

Deferred tax expense     

Domestic - - - - 

Foreign - - - - 

 - - - - 

Total income tax expense - - - - 

     

Income tax expense from continuing operations - - - - 

Income tax (benefit) expense from discontinued operation 
(excluding gain/loss on sale) - - - - 

 - - - - 

Income tax on (benefit) expense on sale of discontinued operation - - - - 

Total income tax expense - - - - 

Domestic income tax is calculated at 30% of the estimated assessable profit for the year.  Taxation for other jurisdictions is 
calculated at the rates prevailing in the respective jurisdictions.  The rates prevailing in the respective jurisdictions are as 
follows: 

 Australia (domestic)  30% 

The charge for the period can be reconciled to the loss per the income statement as follows: 

Numerical reconciliation between income tax expense and loss before income tax 
 Consolidated  Company 

In AUD 2010 2009 2010 2009 
Loss for the period (2,844,434) (14,166,968) (2,844,434) (11,384,379) 

Total income tax (benefit) expense - - - - 

Loss excluding income tax (2,844,434) (14,166,968) (2,844,434) (11,384,379) 

Income tax (benefit) expense using the Company’s domestic tax 
rate of 30% (2008:30%) and foreign tax rate of 29% (2008: 29%) (853,330) (4,222,264) (853,330) (3,415,314) 

Non assessable income - 83,651 - - 

Assessed loss not utilised - 2,612,474 - 1,651,734 

Non-deductible expenses 219,539 (199,849) 219,539 64,032 

Current year capital losses not recognised 6,603,059 - 6,603,059 - 

Movement in deferred tax assets not raised - 1,725,988 - 1,699,548 

Movement in unrecognised temporary differences (5,617,060) - (5,617,060) - 

Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses (170,586) - (170,586) - 

Deductible equity raising costs (181,622) - (181,622) - 

Income tax (benefit) expense - - - - 

12. Earnings (Loss) per share 

Basic earnings (loss) per share 
 Consolidated  

 2010 2009 
Basic loss per share (cents) (0.79) (9.74) 

Basic earnings /  (loss) per share from continuing operations (cents) (0.79) 0.53 

The calculation of basic (loss) per share at 28 February 2009 was based on the loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of 
$2,844,434 (2009: $14,166,968) and a weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding of 361,271,802 (2009: 
145,440,157), calculated as follows. 
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Profit (loss) attributable to ordinary shareholders 
 Consolidated 

In AUD 2010 2009 
 Continuing 

operations 
Operation in 
liquidation 

 
Total 

Continuing 
operations 

Operation in 
liquidation 

 
Total 

Loss for the period (2,844,436) - (2,844,436) 771,432 (14,938,400) (14,166,968) 

Weighted average number of shares 
 Consolidated  

 2010 2009 
Issued ordinary shares at 1 March 176,739,411 128,549,420 

Effect of shares issued 184,532,391 16,890,737 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares at 28 February 361,271,802 145,440,157 

Diluted earnings (loss) per share 
 Consolidated  

 2010 2009 
Diluted loss per share (cents) (0.79) (9.74) 
Diluted earnings / (loss) per share from continuing operations (cents) (0.79) 0.53 

The Group is in a loss making position and it is unlikely that the conversion to, calling of, or subscription for, ordinary share 
capital in respect of potential ordinary shares would lead to diluted earnings per share that shows an inferior view of the 
earnings per share.  For this reason, the diluted loss per share is the same as the basic loss per share. 

13. Trade and other receivables 
 Note Consolidated Company 

In AUD  2010 2009 2010 2009 

Current      

GST and VAT receivables  10,673 49,223 10,673 49,223 

Deposits (i) 1,562,674 2,176,617 1,562,674 2,176,617 

Intercompany loan – Lonrho Mining SA (Pty) Ltd  - 310,945 - 310,945 

Receivable – Option issue  - 5,250 - 5,250 

Other current receivables  10,000 15,267 10,000 - 

  1,583,347 2,557,302 1,583,347 2,542,035 
Non Current      
Rehabilitation deposits:      

Opening balance  - 891,619 - - 

Effect of foreign currency translation  - 75,796 - - 

Effect of operation placed into liquidation 6 - (967,415) - - 

Total rehabilitation deposits and guarantees  - - - - 

      

Intercompany loan 27 - - 5,146,435 3,136,054 

Lulo joint venture 27 3,087,796 1,881,632 - - 

Total other financial assets  3,087,796 1,881,632 5,146,435 3,136,054 

(i). Under the terms of the joint venture agreement with Empresa Nacional De Damantes De Angola (Endiama), the 
Company has paid a cash deposit of US$1.4 million to Endiama in relation to the Lulo Diamond Concession project 
based in Angola.  The deposit is refundable to the Company within 30 days following commissioning of the DMS 
Plant, expected around the end of July 2010. 

The Group’s exposure to credit and currency risks and impairment losses related to trade and other receivables are 
disclosed in Note 25.  
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14. Mining & deferred exploration assets 
 Note Consolidated Company 

In AUD  2010 2009 2010 2009 
Cost      

Balance at 1 March  1,147,973 13,942,766 - - 

Exploration costs capitalised  540,400 3,270,686 - - 

Impairment loss 6 - (14,800,324) - - 

Effect of foreign currency translation  48,097 1,265,340 - - 

Effect of operation placed in liquidation 6 - (2,530,495) - - 

Balance at 28 February  1,736,470 1,147,973 - - 

15. Trade and other payables 
 Note Consolidated Company 

In AUD  2010 2009 2010 2009 
Trade payables  6,532 173,779 6,532 173,779 

Accruals and other payables  98,885 442,878 20,888 378,855 

Director fees payable  216,690 114,956 216,690 114,956 

Related party loan - director related entity 27 - 547,908 - 547,908 

  322,107 1,279,521 244,110 1,215,498 

The Group’s exposure to currency and liquidity risk related to trade and other payables is disclosed in Note 28.  

16. Loans and borrowings 

This note provides information about the contractual terms of the Company’s and Group’s interest-bearing loans and 
borrowings for the South African subsidiaries placed into liquidation in the prior period, which are measured at amortised 
cost.  Following liquidation of these entities, no further amounts are due.  For more information about the Company’s and 
Group’s exposure to interest rate, foreign currency and liquidity risk, see Note 25. 

 Note Consolidated Company 
In AUD  2010 2009 2010 2009 
Finance lease obligations were all signed with Lonrho 
Mining SA and are with the following  financial institutions 
in South Africa:  

 
    

  ABSA (i) - 269,443 - - 

  Industrial Development Corporation of South Africa (ii) - 804,900 - - 

  Nedbank (iii) - 84,327 - - 

  Outsourced Processed Solutions (Pty) Ltd (iv) - 242,561 - - 

  Standard Bank (v) - 1,560,712 - - 

  Wesbank (vi) - 656,944 - - 

Long term loan – finance leases  - 3,618,887 - - 

Effect of operation placed in liquidation 6 - (3,618,887) - - 

  - - - - 

Finance lease obligations:      

Payable within one year  - - - - 

Payable in 2-5 years  - - - - 

Future finance charges  - - - - 

Present value of minimum lease payments  - - - - 

Less: current portion repayable within one year  - - -  

Non-current portion  - - - - 

Terms and conditions 

(i) The finance lease obligation is secured over the plant and equipment financed. The Company has subordinated its loan 
account with Lonrho Mining SA in favour of the financial institutions. 

(ii) The finance lease obligation is secured over the plant and equipment financed. A general notarial bond has been 
registered over the plant and equipment financed. 

(iii) The finance lease obligation is secured over the plant and equipment financed. The Company has subordinated its loan 
account with Lonrho Mining SA in favour of the financial institutions. The Company has signed a letter of comfort in 
favour of Nedbank for one of the finance lease contracts. In terms of the letter of comfort, Nedbank may request the 
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Company to assume liability for all obligations of Lonrho Mining SA in the event that Lonrho Mining SA is in breach of 
any of the terms of the finance lease agreement. At 28 February 2009 the outstanding amount on the finance lease 
contract for which a comfort letter was provided was AU$26,788.  

(iv) The finance lease obligation is secured over the plant and equipment financed. The Company has subordinated its loan 
account with Lonrho Mining SA (Pty) Ltd in favour of the financial institutions. 

(v) The finance lease obligation is secured over the plant and equipment financed. The Company has subordinated its loan 
account with Lonrho Mining SA (Pty) Ltd in favour of the financial institutions. The Company has signed a letter of 
comfort in favour of Standard Bank for the finance lease contracts. In terms of the letter of comfort, Standard Bank may 
request the Company to assume liability for all obligations of Lonrho Mining SA in the event that Lonrho Mining SA is in 
breach of any of the terms of the finance lease agreements. At 28 February 2009 the outstanding amount on the finance 
lease obligations were AU$1,601,317.  

(vi) The finance lease obligation is secured over the plant and equipment financed. In addition a specific notarial bond has 
been registered over other unencumbered plant and equipment to the value of R10,000,000 (AU$1,557,269).The 
Company has subordinated it’s loan account with Lonrho Mining SA (Pty) Ltd in favour of the financial institutions. The 
Company has signed a letter of comfort in favour of Wesbank for the finance lease contracts. In terms of the letter of 
comfort, Wesbank may request the Company to assume liability for all obligations of Lonrho Mining SA in the event that 
Lonrho Mining SA is in breach of any of the terms of the finance lease agreements. At 28 February 2009 the 
outstanding amount on the finance lease obligations was AU$673,889. 

17. Other financial liabilities 
 Note Consolidated Company 

In AUD  2010 2009 2010 2009 
Deferred consideration – Vertori (i) - 2,763,000 - 2,763,000 

Deferred consideration – ARH (ii) - 815,322 - 815,322 

  - 3,578,322 - 3,578,322 

(i) The Company issued 10 million options to Vertori Management Limited (Vertori) as part consideration for the acquisition 
of their New Diamond Corporation (Pty) Ltd (NDC) shares and to settle outstanding loans with NDC.  The options are 
exercisable at $0.375 and expire on 15 December 2011.  At 28 February 2010, this amount was no longer deemed to 
constitute a financial liability of the company and as a result was transferred to share based payments reserve. 

(ii) Under an acquisition agreement, The Company is obliged to issue 5 million options to African Renaissance Holdings 
Limited (ARH) as part consideration for the acquisition of their NDC shares and to settle outstanding loans with NDC.  The 
Company will issue the options to ARH upon either the Company listing on the Johannesburg Stock Exchange or upon the 
vendors obtaining South African Reserve Bank approval for the transaction. At 28 February 2010, this amount was no longer 
deemed to constitute a financial liability of the company and as a result was transferred to retained profits. 

18. Provisions 
 Note Consolidated Company 

In AUD  2010 2009 2010 2009 
Site restoration and rehabilitation      

Balance at 1 March  - 2,232,795 - - 

Provision made (reversed) during the period  - (585,645) - - 

Effect of foreign currency translation  - 146,136 - - 

Effect of operation placed in liquidation 6 - (1,793,286) - - 

Balance as at end of February  - - - - 

Site restoration and rehabilitation 

A provision for rehabilitation had been recognised upon the commencement of mining and exploration activities, according to 
the value of bank guarantees provided to the DME in the RSA and in accordance with estimates provided by independent 
experts prior to the liquidation of the South African subsidiaries. Rehabilitation is progressively carried out during mining and 
exploration activities and replaced by additional rehabilitation obligations as other areas are explored. 

19. Issued capital and reserves 
   Consolidated Company 

In AUD  2010 2009 2010 2009 
Issued and ordinary fully paid shares  38,498,650 32,982,034 38,498,650 32,982,034 
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Movement in ordinary shares 

In shares  Ordinary shares AUD 

  2010 2009 2010 2009 

On issue at 1 March  176,739,411 128,549,420 32,982,034 30,727,457 

Issue of shares for cash  433,183,487 41,023,325 4,939,042 2,461,399 

Issue for repayment of related party loan 27 46,275,272 7,166,666 688,887 430,000 

Issue for payment of payables  14,860,334 - 197,207 - 

Issue for settlement of historical claim  2,857,143 - 70,323 - 

Transaction costs 21 - - (378,843) (636,822) 

On issue at end of February  673,915,647 176,739,411 38,498,650 32,982,034 

Terms and conditions 

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote 
per share at meetings of the Company. 

Settlement of historical claim 

During September 2007 the Company agreed terms to settle an historical claim between its then controlled entity Lonrho 
Mining SA (Pty) Ltd and the previous mining contractor at the Schmidstdrift alluvial diamond mine.  Under the settlement, the 
Company agreed to issue the following securities to SM Mining Contractors (Pty) Ltd and Benoryn Investment Holdings (Pty) 
Ltd: 

 2,857,143 ordinary fully paid shares; 
 4,000,000 options ($0.30 exercise price, expiring 30 June 2010); and 
 4,000,000 options ($0.35 exercise price, expiring 30 June 2010). 

The Company announced the settlement of this claim and issued the above securities on 20 May 2009. 

Unissued ordinary shares of the Company under option at 28 February 2010 are: 

Expiry date Exercise price Number of shares 

30 June 2010 $0.30 4,000,000 

30 June 2010 $0.35 4,000,000 

30 June 2010 $0.50 40,010,000 

18 November 2010 $0.01 405,949,388 

15 December 2011 $0.375 10,000,000 

30 June 2012 $0.15 131,629,982 

30 September 2012 $0.50 19,750,000 

Exercise of options 
1,000,000 options over ordinary shares were exercised at $0.01 per option subsequent to the end of the financial year.   

Lapse of options 
5,000,000 options over ordinary shares lapsed during the financial year. 

Reserves 
 Consolidated Company 

 
 
 
In AUD 

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve 

Share-
based 

payments 
reserve 

 
Option 

premium 
reserve 

 
 
 

Total 

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve 

Share-
based 

payments 
reserve 

 
Option 

premium 
reserve 

 
 
 

Total 
Balance at 1 March 2008 920,054 2,752,094 - 3,672,148 - 2,752,094 - 2,752,094 

Issue of options - - 185,962 185,962 - - 185,962 185,962 

Share based payments - 562,416 - 562,416 - 562,416 - 562,416 

Currency translation differences (723,728) - - (723,728) - - - - 

Realised through loss of control 
over controlled entity (196,326) - - (196,326) - - - - 

Balance at 28 February 2009 - 3,314,510 185,962 3,500,472 - 3,314,510 185,962 3,500,472 

Derecognition of other financial 
liabilities - 2,763,000 - 2,763,000 - 2,763,000 - 2,763,000 

Share based payments - 21,752 - 21,752 - 21,752 - 21,752 

Balance at 28 February 2010 - 6,099,262 185,962 6,285,224 - 6,099,262 185,962 6,285,224 
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Nature and purpose of reserves 

Foreign currency translation reserve 

The foreign currency translation reserve comprises all foreign currency differences arising from the translation of the 
financial statements of foreign operations where their functional currency is different to the presentation currency of the 
reporting entity. 

Share-based payments reserve 

The share-based payments reserve represents the fair value of equity instruments issued to employees as compensation 
and issued to external parties for the receipt of goods and services.  This reserve will be reversed against issued capital 
when the underlying shares are converted. 

Option premium reserve 

The option premium reserve records amounts paid by shareholders in acquiring options over ordinary shares.  The balance 
in the option premium reserve is transferred to issued capital on option conversion and transferred to accumulated losses on 
option expiry. 

20. Preference shares 
  Consolidated Company 

In AUD  2010 2009 2010 2009 
Preference shares issued to NDC vendors  3,927,294 3,927,294 - - 

Total preference shares  3,927,294 3,927,294 - - 

 Nare Adamas (South Africa) (Pty) Ltd issued 11.5 million preference shares to previous New Diamond Corporation (Pty) Ltd 
(NDC) vendors as part consideration for the acquisition of their NDC shares and to settle outstanding loans with NDC.  Each 
preference share entitles the holder to exchange each preference share for one Company share upon either the Company 
listing on the Johannesburg Stock Exchange or upon the vendors obtaining South African Reserve Bank approval for the 
transaction.  The preference shares do not carry any voting rights. 

21. Share based payments 

The following share based payments were made by the Company during the financial year. 

 
Issue description 

 
Issue date Number of shares/ 

options 
Exercise 

Price 
(options) 

 
Expiry date 

 
Note 

Options issued to directors 6 Aug 2009 4,000,000 options $0.15 30 Jun 2012 (i) 

Options issued to consultants 15 Apr 2009 5,250,000 options $0.15 30 Jun 2012 (ii) 

Shares and options issued to settle 
historical claim 

20 May 2009 2,857,143 shares 
8,000,000 options 

$0.30/$0.35 30 June 2010 (iii) 

(i)  As approved by shareholders in General Meeting on 30 July 2009, 4 million options were issued to director, Mr David 
Lenigas. 

The fair value of the options has been determined using their market price on date of grant. 

(ii)  As approved by shareholders in General Meeting on 14 January 2009, 15.25 million options were approved for issue to 
consultants for services rendered in relation to the private equity placement as announced on 16 October 2008. 

Party Number Premium 

Indian Ocean Capital Pty Ltd 10,000,000 $Nil 

Argonaut Securities Limited 5,250,000 $0.001 

 15,250,000  

As at 28 February 2009, 10 million of the options approved had been issued to Indian Ocean Capital, with the Argonaut 
options issued in the current period, the issue date being 15 April 2009.  The fair value of the options issued to Indian Ocean 
Capital and Argonaut were accounted for in the prior period, determined using the Black Scholes options pricing model. 

$97,207 due and payable to Indian Ocean Capital was settled through the issue of 4,860,334 shares in the Company at 
$0.02 per share and a further $100,000 was settled through the issue of 10,000,000 shares in the Company at $0.01 per 
share.  The shares were issued as part of the entitlements issues completed during the period. 

(iii)  During September 2007 the Company agreed terms to settle an historical claim between its then controlled entity 
Lonrho Mining SA (Pty) Ltd and the previous mining contractor at the Schmidstdrift alluvial diamond mine.  Under the 
settlement, the Company agreed to issue the following securities to SM Mining Contractors (Pty) Ltd and Benoryn 
Investment Holdings (Pty) Ltd: 

 2,857,143 ordinary fully paid shares; 
 4,000,000 options ($0.30 exercise price, expiring 30 June 2010); and 
 4,000,000 options ($0.35 exercise price, expiring 30 June 2010). 
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Terms and conditions 

All options issued during the financial year entitle the holder to take up ordinary shares at their respective exercise price.  
The options do not have attaching vesting conditions and each option is convertible to one fully paid ordinary share.  There 
are no voting or dividend rights attached to the options.  Voting rights will be attached to the ordinary issued shares when the 
options have been exercised. 

Terms and conditions 

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote 
per share at meetings of the Company. 

Fair value basis 

The fair value of shares issued during the financial year was determined by the market price of the shares issued on the 
date of grant. 

The fair value of options issued to the following parties during the financial year, are estimated at the date of grant using the 
Black-Scholes model.  The following table sets out the assumptions made in determining the fair value of the options 
granted. 

 Settlement options 

Grant date 13 May 2009 

Expiry date 30 June 2010 

Dividend yield 0.00% 

Expected volatility 100% 

Risk-free interest rate 3.45% 

Option exercise price $0.30/$0.35 

Expected life (years) 1.1  

Share price on date of grant $0.024 

22a. Cash and cash equivalents 
   Consolidated Company 

In AUD  2010 2009 2010 2009 
Bank balances  1,171,666 231,242 823,358 148,188 

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk is discussed in note 25. 

22b. Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities 
   Consolidated Company 

In AUD  2010 2009 2010 2009 
Loss for the period  (2,844,434) (14,166,968) (2,844,434) (11,384,379) 

Adjustments for:      

Exploration expenditure written-off  - 8,355 - 8,355 

Interest received  (20,962) (60,402) (20,962) (41,578) 

Impairment of property, plant & equipment  - 25,878 - 25,878 

Impairment of mining and deferred exploration assets  - 14,800,324 - - 

Provision for intercompany loan  - - - 12,155,811 

Depreciation  1,019 77,935 1,019 9,035 

Share based payments  90,323 187,560 90,323 187,560 

(Gain)/Loss on sale of assets  - (466,617) - - 

Unrealised foreign currency exchange (gain)/loss  1,483,314 (2,769,766) 1,483,314 (2,769,766) 

Gain on operation placed into liquidation, net of tax  - (196,855) - - 

Operating loss before changes in working capital and 
provisions 

 (2,467,208) (2,560,556) (2,467,208) (1,809,084) 

(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables  38,550 383,913 642,493 52,598 

Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables  (1,252,190) 666,214 (423,480) 1,021,763 

Net cash from/(used in) operating activities  (2,134,157) (1,510,429) (2,248,195) (734,723) 

 Non cash financing activities 

 Refer to notes 19 and 21 for further details. 
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23. Operating leases 

 Leases as lessee 

Non-cancellable operating lease rentals are payable as follows: 

   Consolidated Company 
In AUD  2010 2009 2010 2009 
Less than one year  - 56,920 - 56,920 

Between one and five years  - - - - 

More than five years  - - - - 

  - 56,920 - 56,920 

The Group leases corporate office and administrative facilities in West Perth on a periodic basis. 

During the year ended 28 February 2010 $126,775 was recognised as an expense in the income statement in respect of 
operating leases (2009: $75,993 from continuing operations). 

24. Commitments and contingent liabilities 

 Capital commitments 
   Consolidated Company 

In AUD  2010 2009 2010 2009 
Approved, not yet contracted for:      

Less than one year  1,853,658 2,843,479 - - 

Between one and five years  1,658,536 2,381,159 - - 

  3,512,194 5,224,683 - - 

Contingent liabilities 
  Consolidated Company 

In AUD  2010 2009 2010 2009 
Finance lease obligations for which comfort letters were 
provided  to (refer to note 19) : 

     

  Nedbank  - 26,788 - - 

  Standard Bank  - 1,601,317 - - 

  Wesbank  - 673,889 - - 

  - 2,351,994 - - 

Prior to the liquidation of the South African subsidiary companies, the Company had signed letters of comfort in favour of the 
above named financial institutions for the finance lease obligations of Lonrho Mining SA. 

25. Financial risk management 

 The Company and Group have exposure to credit, liquidity and market risks from their use of financial instruments. 

This note presents information about the Company’s and Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, their objectives, 
policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the management of capital.  Further quantitative disclosures 
are included throughout this financial report. 

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the risk management framework. 

Risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Company and Group, to set 
appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits.  Risk management policies and systems 
are reviewed to reflect changes in market conditions and the Company’s and Group’s activities.  The Company and Group, 
through their training and management standards and procedures, aim to develop a disciplined and constructive control 
environment in which all employees understand their roles and obligations. 

Market risk  

Commodity price risk 

Following the appointment of liquidators to the Group’s South African mining entities, the Group is now focused on its 
Angolan diamond exploration interests in the Lulo Project.  Accordingly, the Company is not exposed to significant 
commodity risk. 

Foreign exchange risk 

The Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, 
primarily with respect to the US dollar, South African Rand and Australian dollar.  Foreign exchange risk arises from future 
commercial transactions, recognised assets and liabilities and net investments in foreign operations that are not in the 
entity’s functional currency. 
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The functional and presentation currency of Lonrho Mining Limited is Australian Dollars. The Group’s diamond sales are 
denominated in US$. 

The currency sensitivity analysis below is based on the following assumptions: 

 The major currency exposures for the Group relate to the US$ and local currencies of the subsidiaries and between 
differences resulting from the translation of financial statements of subsidiaries into the Group’s presentation currency 
of Australian dollars. 

The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk at balance date was a follows, based on notional amounts: 

  2010 2009 
In AUD A$ US$ ZAR A$ US$ ZAR 
Financial assets       

   Cash and cash equivalents 823,358 348,308 - 148,188 83,054 - 

   Trade and other receivables 20,673 1,562,674 - 365,418 2,191,884 - 

   Rehabilitation deposits - - - - - - 

   Other receivables - 3,087,796 - - 1,881,632 - 

Financial liabilities   -    

   Loans and borrowings - - - - - - 

   Trade and other payables (244,110) (77,997) - (1,215,498) (64,024) - 

   Other financial liabilities  - - - (3,578,322) - - 

Net balance sheet exposure 599,921 4,920,781 - (4,280,213) 4,092,546 - 

The following significant exchange rates applied during the year: 

   Average rate Reporting date spot rate 
  2010 2009 2010 2009 
A$ = US$  0.83 0.82 0.89 0.64 

Sensitivity analysis 

At 28 February 2010, if the US$ weakened/strengthened by 15% against the A$, the amount capitalised to mining and 
deferred exploration asset would have been A$226,496 (2009: $149,736) lower/higher. The increase / decrease in equity 
and profit or loss are shown in table below.  This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain 
constant. The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2009. 

  Consolidated Company 

  Equity  
A$ 

Profit or loss  
A$ 

Equity 
A$ 

Profit or loss 
A$ 

28 February 2010  278,691 278,691 278,691 278,691 

28 February 2009  283,907 283,907 283,907 283,907 

Cash flow interest rate risk 

Cash flow interest rate risk, is the risk that a financial instrument’s value will fluctuate as a result of changes in the market 
interest rates on interest-bearing financial instruments. 

Following the appointment of liquidators to the Group’s South African mining entities during the year, the Group’s finance 
lease obligations have been extinguished.  The Company and the Group is therefore not exposed to significant interest rate 
risk.  Any residual cash flow interest rate risk is in relation to the Company and Group’s cash and cash equivalent balances.  
The Group does not currently use derivatives to mitigate these exposures. 

If required, new loans or borrowings are reviewed by management who use their judgement to decide whether a fixed or 
variable borrowing rate would be more favourable to the Group over the expected period until maturity. 
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The following table details the Group’s exposure to interest rate risk on its interest-bearing financial instruments at 28 
February 2010: 

    Fixed Interest Rate Maturity  
 

Average 
Interest Rate 

% 

Variable 
Interest Rate 

A$ 

Less than 
1 Year 

A$ 

1 to 5 
Years 

A$ 

More than 
5 Years 

A$ 

Non- 
Interest 
Bearing 

A$ 
Financial Assets 

Total 
A$ 

       

Cash - 1,171,666 - - - - 1,171,666 
Trade and other receivables - - - - - 4,671,143 4,671,143 
  1,171,666 - - - 4,671,143 5,842,809 
        
Financial Liabilities        
Trade and other payables - - - - - 322,107 322,107 
Other financial liabilities - - - - - - - 

  - - - - 322,107 322,107 
        

The following table details the Company’s exposure to interest rate risk on its interest-bearing financial instruments at 28 
February 2010: 

    Fixed Interest Rate Maturity  
 

Average 
Interest Rate 

% 

Variable 
Interest Rate 

A$ 

Less than 
1 Year 

A$ 

1 to 5 
Years 

A$ 

More than 
5 Years 

A$ 

Non- 
Interest 
Bearing 

A$ 
Financial Assets 

Total 
A$ 

       

Cash - 823,358 - - - - 823,358 
Trade and other receivables - - - - - 6,729,782 6,729,782 
  823,358 - - - 6,729,782 7,553,140 
        
Financial Liabilities        
Trade and other payables - - - - - 244,110 244,110 
Other financial liabilities - - - - - - - 

  - - - - 244,110 244,110 
        

The following table details the Group’s exposure to interest rate risk on its interest-bearing financial instruments at 29 
February 2009: 

    Fixed Interest Rate Maturity  
 

Average 
Interest Rate 

% 

Variable 
Interest Rate 

A$ 

Less than 
1 Year 

A$ 

1 to 5 
Years 

A$ 

More than 
5 Years 

A$ 

Non- 
Interest 
Bearing 

A$ 
Financial Assets 

Total 
A$ 

       

Cash  231,242 - - - - 231,242 
Trade and other receivables - - - - - 4,438,934 4,438,934 
  231,242 - - - 4,438,934 4,670,176 
Financial Liabilities        
Trade and other payables - - - - - 1,279,521 1,279,521 
Other financial liabilities - - - - - 3,578,322 3,578,322 

  - - - - 4,857,843 4,857,843 
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The following table details the Company’s exposure to interest rate risk on its interest bearing financial instruments at 28 
February 2009: 

    Fixed Interest Rate Maturity  
 

Average 
Interest Rate 

% 

Variable 
Interest Rate 

A$ 

Less than 
1 Year 

A$ 

1 to 5 
Years 

A$ 

More than 
5 Years 

A$ 

Non- 
Interest 
Bearing 

A$ 
Financial Assets 

Total 
A$ 

       

Cash  148,188 - - - - 148,188 
Trade and other receivables - - - - - 5,678,089 5,678,089 
  148,188 - - - 5,678,089 5,826,277 
Financial Liabilities        
Trade and other payables - - - - - 1,215,498 1,215,498 
Other financial liabilities - - - - - 3,578,322 3,578,322 

  - - - - 4,793,820 4,793,820 

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments 

The sensitivity analysis below has been prepared to demonstrate the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest 
rates, with all other variables held constant through the impact on floating rate interest rates. 

A change of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have no material impact on the income statement.  
There would be no effect on the equity reserves other than those directly related to income statement.  The analysis is 
performed on the same basis for 2010. 

Credit risk 

Credit risk refers to the risk that counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to the 
Company or Group. The Group’s potential concentration of credit risk consists mainly of cash deposits with banks and other 
receivables.  The Group’s short term cash surpluses are placed with banks that have investment grade ratings.  The 
maximum credit risk exposure relating to the financial assets is represented by the carrying value as at the balance sheet 
date.  The Company and the Group considers the credit standing of counterparties when making deposits to manage the 
credit risk. 

Considering the nature of the Group’s ultimate customers and the relevant terms and conditions entered into with such 
customers, the Group believes that the credit risk is limited.  

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group’s approach 
to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, 
under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s 
reputation. 

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the Board of Directors.  The Group manages liquidity risk by 
maintaining adequate cash reserves from funds raised in the market and by continuously monitoring forecast and actual 
cash flows.   

The Company anticipates a need to raise additional capital in the next 12 months to meet discretionary forecast operational 
and exploration activities.  The decision on how the Company will raise future capital will depend on market conditions 
existing at that time. 

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated interest payments and excluding the 
impact of netting agreements: 

   Consolidated Company 
In AUD  2010 2009 2010 2009 
Interest bearing loans and borrowings      

- Within one year  - - - - 
- One to five years  - - - - 
- Greater than five years  - - - - 

Total (including estimated interest payments)  - - - - 
Trade and other payables      

- Within one year  322,107 1,279,521 244,110 1,215,498 
- One to five years  - - - - 
- Greater than five years  - - - - 

Total  322,107 1,279,521 244,110 1,215,498 
Other financial liabilities      

- Within one year  - - - - 
- One to five years  - 3,578,322 - 3,578.322 
- Greater than five years  - - - - 

Total  - 3,578,322 - 3,578,322 
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Capital risk management 

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so as to 
maintain a strong capital base sufficient to maintain future exploration and development of its projects.  In order to maintain 
or adjust the capital structure, the Group may return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.  
The Group’s focus has been to raise sufficient funds through equity to fund exploration and evaluation activities. 

Fair value 

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of 
measurement and the basis on which revenues and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of financial asset, 
financial liability and equity instrument are disclosed in note 4 to the financial statements. 

The financial assets and liabilities included in the assets and liabilities of the Group and the Company approximate net fair 
value, determined in accordance with the accounting policies disclosed in note 4 to the financial statements. 

26. Controlled entities 

 Particulars in relation to controlled entities 

  Country of incorporation Ownership interest 

   2010 2009 
Parent Entity     

Lonrho Mining Ltd  Australia   

     

Controlled Entities     

Nare Adamas (South Africa) (Pty) Ltd  South Africa - - 

New Diamond Corporation (Pty) Ltd  South Africa - - 

Schmidtsdrift Mining Enterprises (Pty) Ltd  South Africa - - 

Kamfersdam Diamond Mining Company (Pty) Ltd  South Africa - - 

NDC Management Services (Pty) Ltd  South Africa - - 

Caravan Park Dumps (Pty) Ltd  South Africa - - 

Kroonstad Mining Company (Pty) Ltd  South Africa - - 

Transcontinental Diamond Corporation (Pty) Ltd  South Africa - - 

NDC Namibia (Pty) Ltd  Namibia - - 

Gauteng Cutters and Polishers (Pty) Ltd  South Africa - - 

Bridoon Trade & Investment 75 (Pty) Ltd  South Africa - - 

Clifton Dunes Investments 294 (Pty) Ltd  South Africa - - 

Rich Rewards Trading 296 (Pty) Ltd  South Africa - - 

On 16 January 2009 an application was brought to the High Court of South Africa for the liquidation of Lonrho Mining SA and 
the High Court issued a provisional liquidation order against Lonrho Mining SA. The Provisional Liquidators were appointed 
on 29 January 2009 and the assets of Lonrho Mining SA, including the shares it holds in its wholly and partly owned 
subsidiaries, were placed under the control of the Provisional Liquidators and remained under the control of the Provisional 
Liquidators until the liquidation process was finalised.  Refer to Note 5 for more details. 

Joint venture operations 

The Consolidated Group includes a proportional consolidation of the Angolan joint venture operations with the parent entity 
for the current and prior periods.  Due to the liquidation of the South African subsidiaries being effectively accounted for in 
the prior period, the Lulo joint venture operation is the only addition within the consolidated Group for the year ended 28 
February 2010 over and above the position and results of the Company.  

27. Related parties 

 Key management personnel compensation 

The key management personnel compensation included in ‘personnel expenses’ (see note 7) is as follows: 

   Consolidated Company 
In AUD  2010 2009 2010 2009 
Short-term employee benefits  327,730 764,278 269,597 604,238 

Post-employment benefits  86,800 3,670 86,800 3,670 

Termination benefits  - 116,071 - 116,071 

Share-based payments  20,000 187,560 20,000 187,560 

  434,530 1,071,579 376,397 911,539 
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 Individual directors’ and executives’ compensation disclosures 

Information regarding individual directors' and executives' compensation and some equity instruments disclosures as 
required by Corporations Regulations 2M.3.03 is provided in the remuneration report section of the directors’ report. 

Apart from the details disclosed in this note, no director has entered into a material contract with the Company or the Group 
since the end of the previous financial year and there were no material contracts involving directors; interests at year-end. 

 Key management personnel and director transactions 

A number of key management persons, or their related parties, hold positions in other entities that result in them having 
control or significant influence over the financial or operating policies of those entities.  A number of these entities transacted 
with the Company or its subsidiaries in the reporting period.  The terms and conditions of the transactions with management 
persons and their related parties were no more favourable than those available, or which might reasonably be expected to 
be available, on similar transactions to non-director related entities on an arm’s length basis. 

Assets and liabilities arising from and payable to key management personnel and other related parties at reporting date 
arising from these transactions were as follows: 

  Note Consolidated Company 
In AUD  2010 2009 2010 2009 
Loan – director related party (i) - 547,908 - 547,908 

(i)  During the financial year Lonrho Africa (Holdings) Limited, a company of which Mr D Lenigas and Mr G White are 
directors of, advanced loan funds to the Company of $140,979 to meet its working capital requirements.  The loan balance 
of $688,887 was repaid by the Company through the issue of 46,275,272 ordinary shares.  The shares were issued as part 
of the entitlements issue completed during the period. 

 Options over equity instruments 

The movement during the reporting period in the number of options over ordinary shares in Lonrho Mining Limited held, 
directly, indirectly or beneficially, by each key management person, including their related parties, is as follows: 

 Held at 
1 March 2009 

or date of 
appointment 

 
 

Granted as 
compensation 

Rights 
Issue 

 
 

Held at     
resignation 

 
Held at 28 
February 

2010 

Released  
from escrow 
during the 

year 

 
Vested 
during 

the year 

 
 

Vested & 
Exercisable 

         
Directors         
Mr M Kennedy  4,000,000 - 3,750,000  7,750,000 - - 7,750,000 
Mr D Jones 150,000 - -  150,000 - - 150,000 
Mr M Fitzgerald  4,000,000 - - 4,000,000  - - 4,000,000 
Mr J Firth 4,000,000 - - 4,000,000  - - 4,000,000 
Mr D Lenigas 6,000,000 4,000,000 -  10,000,000 - 4,000,000 10,000,000 
Mrs K Chikane 8,000,000 - -  8,000,000 - - 8,000,000 
Mr G White 6,000,000 - -  6,000,000 - - 6,000,000 
         
 Held at 

1 March 2008 
or date of 

appointment 

 
 

Granted as 
compensation 

 
 
 

Exercised 

 
 

Held at     
resignation 

 
Held at 28 
February 

2009 

Released  
from escrow 
during the 

year 

 
Vested 
during 

the year 

 
 

Vested & 
Exercisable 

         
Directors         
Mr M Kennedy 
(appointed 12 Sep 08) - 4,000,000 -  4,000,000 - 4,000,000 4,000,000 

Mr M Fitzgerald 
(appointed 16 Oct 08) - 4,000,000 -  4,000,000 - 4,000,000 4,000,000 

Mr J Firth - 
(ii) 

(appointed 12 Sep 08) 4,000,000 -  4,000,000 - 4,000,000 4,000,000 

Mr D Lenigas 6,000,000 - -  6,000,000 4,000,000 - 6,000,000 
Mrs K Chikane 4,000,000 4,000,000 -  8,000,000 2,000,000 4,000,000 8,000,000 
Mr G White 2,000,000 4,000,000 -  6,000,000 - 4,000,000 6,000,000 
Mr C Mostert 
(resigned 12 Sep 08) 6,820,000 - - 6,820,000     

Mr B V Deventer 
(resigned 12 Sep 08) 3,000,000 - - 3,000,000     

Mr W Burbury 
(resigned 30 Jul 08) 3,800,000 - - 3,800,000     

 No options held by key management personnel are vested but not exercisable at 28 February 2010. 
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 Movements in shares 

The movement during the reporting period in the number of ordinary shares in Lonrho Mining Limited held, directly, indirectly 
or beneficially, by each key management person, including their related parties, is as follows: 

 Held at 
1 March 2009 

or date of 
appointment 

 
 
 

Purchases 

 
Received 

on exercise 
of options 

 
 
 

Sales 

 
 

Held at 
resignation 

 
Held at         

28 February 
2010 

       
Directors       
Mr M Kennedy  500,000 5,750,000 - -  6,250,000 
Mr D Jones 750,000     750,000 
Mr M Fitzgerald  - - - - - - 
Mr J Firth  - - - - - - 
Mr D Lenigas - - - - - - 
Mrs K Chikane - - - - - - 
Mr G White - - - - - - 
       
  

Held at 
1 March 2008  

 
 

Purchases 

Received 
on exercise 
of options 

 
 

Sales 

 
Held at 

resignation 

Held at         
28 February 

2009 
Directors       
Mr M Kennedy  
(appointed 12 Sep 08) - 500,000 - -  500,000 

Mr M Fitzgerald 
(appointed 16 Oct 08) - - - -  - 

Mr J Firth 
(appointed 12 Sep 08) - - - -  - 

Mr D Lenigas - - - -  - 
Mrs K Chikane - - - -  - 
Mr G White - - - -  - 
Mr C Mostert 
(resigned 12 Sep 08) 3,494,000 - - - 3,494,000  

Mr B V Deventer 
(resigned 12 Sep 08) 500,000 - - - 500,000  

Mr W Burbury 
(resigned 30 Jul 08) 1,300,000 - - - 1,300,000  

No shares were granted to key management personnel during the reporting period as compensation in 2010 or 2009. 

 Other related party transactions  

Loan advances were made by the Company to its controlled entity, Lonrho Mining SA, in prior financial years.  The loans 
made were unsecured and interest free.  Details of balances at the end of the financial year are as follows: 

   Consolidated Company 
In AUD Note 2010 2009 2010 2009 
Controlled entity – Lonrho Mining SA (Pty) Ltd (i) - 310,945 - 310,945 

(i). Following the appointment of liquidators to the Group’s South African mining entities in the prior period, $12,155,811 
in loaned funds receivable from Lonrho Mining SA were recognised as non recoverable and accordingly recognised 
as an impairment expense in the income statement. 

 Joint venture 

The Company signed a joint venture agreement with Empresa Nacional De Damantes De Angola (Endiama), the national 
diamond company of Angola and exclusive concessionary for Angolan diamond mining rights. Within the 3,000km2

    

 Lulo 
Concession, the Company’s participating interest in the kimberlite deposits will initially be 39% of the joint venture which 
will decrease to 30% after recoupment of its investment in the Project. On all alluvial deposits Lonrho’s participating 
interest will be 40% in the joint venture. 

In terms of the joint venture agreement the Company is required to fund an exploration work program and during the year 
loan advances were made to the joint venture for this purpose.  Details of the balances at the end of the financial year are 
as follows: 

 Consolidated Company 
In AUD  2010 2009 2010 2009 
Intercompany loans  - - 5,146,435 3,136,054 

Lulo Joint Venture  3,087,796 1,881,632 - - 

28. Subsequent events 

Conversion of options 

On 16 April 2010 the Company announced the issue of 1,000,000 ordinary shares from the conversion of 1,000,000 options 
in the company at an exercise price of $0.01 per option to raise $10,000. 
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1. In the opinion of the directors of Lonrho Mining Limited (“the Company”): 

 
(a) the financial statements and notes, and the remuneration report in the Directors’ Report, as set out on pages 12 

to 41, are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including: 
 

(i) giving a true and fair view of the Company’s and the Group’s financial position as at 28 February 2010 
and of their performance, for the financial year ended on that date; and 

 
(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and 

the Corporations Regulations 2001; 
 
(b) the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in note 2(a); 
 
(c) as a result of the matters described in note 3 there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be 

able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable. 
 

2. The directors have been given the declarations required by section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 from the Chief 
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer for the financial year ended 28 February 2010. 
 

 
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors 

 

 
MILES A KENNEDY 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER  

 
Dated at West Perth this 31st day of May 2010. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
 
To the members of Lonrho Mining Limited 
 
Report on the Consolidated Financial Report 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial report of Lonrho Mining Limited and 
Lonrho Mining Limited and its controlled entities, which comprises the statement of 
financial position as at 28 February 2010, and the statement of comprehensive income, 
statement of changes in equity and statements of cash flow for the year ended on that 
date, a summary of significant accounting policies and other selected explanatory notes 
and the directors’ declaration of the consolidated entity comprising the company and the 
entities it controlled at the year’s end or from time to time during the financial year. 
 
Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report 
 
The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of 
the financial report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (including the 
Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the Corporations Act 2001. This responsibility 
includes establishing and maintaining internal controls relevant to the preparation and 
fair presentation of the financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error, selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making 
accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. These Auditing 
Standards require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit 
engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether 
the financial report is free from material misstatement. 
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial report. These procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 
financial report, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the 
auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation 
of the financial report in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the entity’s internal control. An audit includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the 
directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our audit opinion. 
 
Independence 
 
In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the 
Corporations Act 2001. We confirm that the independence declaration required by the 
Corporations Act 2001, provided to the directors of Lonrho Mining Limited on that date, 
would be in the same terms if provided to the directors as at the date of this auditor’s 
report. 
 
Conclusion 
 
In our opinion: 
 
1. The financial report of Lonrho Mining Limited and Lonrho Mining Limited and its 

controlled entities are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including: 
 

a. giving a true and fair view of the financial position of Lonrho Mining Limited 
and the consolidated entity as at 28 February 2010 and of their performance 
for the year ended on that date; and 

 
b. complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian 

Accounting Intepretations) and the Corporations Act 2001.  
 
2. The financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards 

as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board 
 
Inherent uncertainty, regarding continuation, as a going concern 
 
Without qualification to the conclusion expressed above, attention is drawn to Note 3 
Financial Position. For the year ended 28 February 2010, the consolidated entity 
recorded a loss of $2,844,434 and had a net working capital surplus of $2,432,906. The 
company recorded a loss of $2,844,434 and had a net working capital surplus of 
$2,162,595. These matters indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which may 
cast significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a going concern and 
therefore whether it would realise its assets and extinguish its liabilities in the normal 
course of business and at the amounts stated in the financial report. 
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Auditor’s Opinion of AASB 124 Remuneration Disclosures contained in the 
Director’s Report 
 
We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 6 to 9 of the director’s 
report for the year ended 28 February 2010. The directors of the company are 
responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Remuneration Report in 
accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to 
express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. 
 
Auditor Opinion 
 
In our opinion the remuneration report of Lonrho Mining Limited for the year ended 28 
February 2010 complies with Section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 
 

 
 
Somes and Cooke 
Chartered Accountants 
 
 

 
Kevin Somes 
Partner  
Date: 31 May 2010 
 
 
 


